Information Quantity Assessment

Bases for Managing the Information Resource

hy

Marshall W. Van Alstyne B.A. Computer Science Yale University 1984

Submitted to the Sloan School of Management in partial fulfillment of the requirements for degree of Master of Science in Management at the

Massachusetts Institute of Technology

February 1991

© Marshall W. Van Alstyne, 1991. All Rights Reserved

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute copies of this thesis document in whole or in part.



ARCHIVES

Information Quantity Assessment Bases for Managing the Information Resource

by

Marshall W. Van Alstyne

Submitted to the Sloan School of Management in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Management

Abstract

This thesis proceeds from the assumption that information is a valuable asset in need of more direct management attention. Information's intangible nature creates difficulties in measuring it directly, however, which in turn makes it difficult to manage. By proposing a classification scheme called an Information Quantity Assessment (IQA), the thesis seeks to provide a basis for managing information.

Chapter 1 offers interpretations of the value of information and characterizations of the obstacles which have prevented the development of useful managerial tools. Overcoming these barriers is a primary concern of the IQA framework.

Chapter 2 examines existing theories of information value through a review of current literature. As certain of the existing theories are rather technical, interested readers are referred to Appendices where relevant mathematical equations are derived. The IQA framework builds upon existing concepts of value but introduces novel measurement concepts based on function. Chapters 3 and 4 define a system of information types and indicate practical applications.

Proposed applications of the IQA framework deal with specific uses of information to solve problems. In addition to problem solving, the proposed measures yield indices for efficient information management. The aim is that IQA will be both theoretically important and practically useful.

Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Ravi Bhushan Title: Professor of Accounting

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1	.4
Introduction	.4
The Need for a Theory of Information Management	6
The Difficulty of Developing a Coherent Theory	9
Chapter 2	.13
Existing Theories of Information Measurement	.13
Information Economics and Decision Theory	.14
Information Quantity The Entropy Function	.19
Realistic Value of Information	.24
Perceived Value of Information	27
Multi-Attribute Utility Theory	29
General Observations on Existing Theories	33
Chapter 3	37
Proposed Theory Definition of Information Quantity	
Assessment (IQA)	37
Definition of Terms	.37
Attributes	.42
Assumptions	.48
IQA Use and Characterization	.48
Chanter 1	50
Detential Information Use in the Air Corres Industry	.00. 27
Problem 1. Creating Information Products	.00
Problem 2. Pricing Strategies	.01 A)
Problem 3. Data Management Handling 4 terabytes of	
descriptive data	63
Problem 4: Process Enhancement	66
Chapter 5	.73
Answers to Principal Questions	.73
Conclusions	.76
A 1. A	
Appendix A	.80
Annendix B	22
	.თ
Bibliography	.85

.

CHAPTER 1

Obviously, a man's judgement cannot be better than the information on which he has based it. Give him the truth and he may still go wrong when he has the chance to be right, but give him no news or present him only with distorted and incomplete data...and you destroy his whole reasoning process... -- Arthur Hays Sulzberger

From Saudi Arabia and the Soviet Union to Western Europe and East Asia, the entire structure of power that held the world together is now disintegrating. A key, unnoticed reason for this global shake-up is the rise of a radically new system for wealth creation in which information ... plays a dominant role. - Alvin Toffler

Introduction

The art of management involves the assignment of relative values which force tradeoffs among cost, quality, and schedule. Whether the yardstick is the economist's profit or the sociologist's quality of life, "managing" implies optimizing a series of choices to create the greatest value. Information constitutes the essential input to the management process. To describe an opportunity or to detail a problem, to manufacture a good or to service the result, to predict a likely outcome or to comprehend a mistake, the manager requires information. This obvious fact is frequently overlooked. Ironically, current management science manipulates information much less effectively than it manages property, cash, or personnel. Despite the importance of information, few tools exist to help manage it and fewer metrics exist to help disclose its value. This essay will address the critical issues in information management by establishing a theoretical foundation and then testing the hypotheses in a practical business environment.

The first section of this essay answers the question, "Why bother?" Industry has done well and could continue to survive without a theory of information management. What are the advantages of a successful theory and how do existing proposals address the pertinent issues? The second section presents a review of current literature in the field, and the third offers a formal proposal including a definition of terms and processes by which one might manage information. This section borrows from computer science and from artificial intelligence to offer a basis for manipulating categories of data. Information has long been a subject of study in these fields, and they contribute valuable theoretical foundations. The fourth section takes a pragmatic view. Can elements of the proposed theory be found in existing business? If not, where are the failings and where are the opportunities? Inconsistencies represent either a chance to improve the theory or a chance to improve business. For a testbed, this section examines information use in the air cargo industry, both because the industry is heavily information dependent and because a sufficient number of companies exist to help control for extraneous variables. The final section synthesizes the previous sections, contrasts theory with practice and compares the findings with the information goals set forth in the opening section.

The Need for a Theory of Information Management

Information unquestionably has value. At an abstract level, American society has implicitly placed a high value not only on information but on information transferral. The First Amendment to the Constitution, guaranteeing free speech, limits the power of government institutions by ensuring that all information and opinions pertaining to government activities can be freely discussed and published. This publicly available information, which guarantees social freedoms, is invaluable. Legal institutions seek to preserve not only the conduits of information, but also the integrity of its content. Those who deliberately disseminate untruths are subject to slander and libel laws, which judge their intent and the nature of injury caused

Another body of laws provides an inducement to generate and disseminate *new* information. Patent laws encourage citizens to develop new tools, processes and materials by providing an economic incentive in the form of monopoly rights.¹ The inventor receives legal protection provided that, in exchange, he discloses what he has learned. Patent laws assume that technological progress creates value. The existence of the U.S. Patent Office implies that collecting and publishing information is instrumental to this progress.

These social and legal institutions are dedicated to the production of information, the protection of its integrity, its collection and

¹A design patent covering product appearance remains in effect for 14 years from the date of issuance by the U.S. Patent Office. Process patents covering functionality and physical properties remain in effect for 17 years. Neither patent is renewable except by act of Congress and both require the payment of fees at the time of filing, and in installments after 3.5, 7.5, and 11.5 years. *Guide to American Law: Everyone's Legal Encyclopedia*; Vol. 10.; St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Co © 1984. pp 104-5.

preservation, and its dissemination. Where, then, are the tools for managing the information created, collected, and distributed? Collective behavior has devised these information institutions as a means of achieving goals, such as scientific advancement. However, the institutions have emerged without an explicit attempt to manage data. A similar pattern emerges in business. Market research and simulation data serve the interests of the company in improving product design and profitability, and in capturing market share. Information management must be recognized as a subordinate yet proper subgoal to any strategic planning.

This thesis is intended to offer suggestions on information management in a business context. Information managers are not completely without tools. The spectrum of approaches ranges from the theoretical to the applied. Economists examine data from the perspective of utility curves.² Statisticians use decision theory and the Expected Value of Perfect Information (EVPI).³ Computer scientists take a systems approach and consider it in terms of formal languages, relational database theory,⁴ and decision support systems.⁵ Accountants take the most applied view, measuring informativeness across corporate financial statements.⁶ Touching on comparative ideas from various methodologies, the essay will address the following questions:

²Hirschleifer, Feltham, Wilson

³Hamburg, Marschak, McGuire, Hilton.

⁴ A Relational Model of Data for Large Shared Data Banks;" E. F. Codd; in Communications of the ACM; Vol. 13, No. 6, June 1970; pp. 377-87.
⁵Adams, Zmud, Gorry & Scott Morton, Keen & Scott Morton.
⁶Lev.

(1) How does one measure information? Is there an information currency?

(2) How can information be classified and what are its relevant attributes?

(3) What information presents the most worthwhile investment opportunity and on what occasions should one buy, sell, or trade information?

(4) What frameworks will indicate the data that is captured or not captured by a corporation?

(5) Are there tools to measure information management efficiency?

Answers to these questions assume that information is essential to corporate health despite the fact that capital markets are comparatively unconcerned with assessing its value. Expressed by wellpublished economists and financial experts, the common view holds that "Assets fall into two broad categories, financial assets and tangible assets."⁷ Corporate financial documents convey only the values of property, plant, equipment, and cash. They occasionally reflect the purchase price of intangibles through the financing of "goodwill." Capital markets advance corporate valuation methodology by considering a discounted series of future cash flows, revising their estimates depending on growth opportunities and the track records of key executives. Information in the form of databases, trade secrets, and process technology remains within an organization more surely than do its chief executive officers.

In general, however, information is not quantified. It is either not mentioned -- and therefore implicitly assigned zero value -- or it is grouped with goodwill intangibles including brand name value, research and development spending, access to distribution channels,

⁷Macroeconomics Fifth Edition; Rudiger Dornbusch and Stanley Fischer; New-York: McGraw-Hill © 1990; p. 122.

monopoly power, product and service quality, and other economic advantages. This aggregation makes it impossible to distinguish one intangible asset from another. The inevitable consequence is underinvestment in a factor which is not measured.

The Difficulty of Developing a Coherent Theory

Proposing a successful theory hinges in part on explaining the absence of metrics. Anecdotal support drawn from the legal system and from the professional literature arguing the need for information value assessment may seem obvious. However, if information carries great importance, why do so few systematic management tools exist for the purpose of managing business information? Existing information technology and conceptual tools almost universally manage information about tangible resources. They do not manage information. Instead, they manage inventory, cash flow or personnel. Almost no system now in use treats information per se as a separate commodity. Even among those few companies which profess to sell information, the customers are charged for access time and various forms of display regardless of whether any actual information is obtained.⁸ For a system to qualify as an information manager, it must fundamentally address the question, In which *information* should one invest? Answering this question poses several additional problems concerning the quantification of value.

The first of these problems is the absence of an information currency. Information is conceptually vague, much more so than cash,

⁸See the DIALOG Service Price List, for example. This list charges for types of databases, connect time, and downloading. Whether a search reveals any data at all, the user is charged the same. There is an implied charge for the *amount* of data downloaded due to the increased transmission time. If an entire string of 0s were downloaded, however, the charge would again be the same.

for which numerous performance measures exist. Financial statement analysis relies on the availability of dollars or dollar ratios to yield its insights. Company analysts commonly speak in terms of return on equity, return on investment, inventory turnover, cash flow, debt to equity ratios, earnings per employee, and changes in these values over With respect to information, however, units such as dollars and time. yen do not come readily to mind. The closest approximation, the binary digit, was proposed in 1949 to indicate the truth or falsity of a single datum and to tie electronic circuits to mathematical logic.⁹ Although in 1991 the bit¹⁰ forms the basis of all machine resident information, like the atom, it has the wrong level of precision to be managerially useful; "... the famous definition of information by Claude Shannon and Warren Weaver, who helped found information science, while useful for technological purposes, has no bearing on semantic meaning or the 'content' of communication."11

Another difficulty is the problem of establishing a transaction. Whether information is conveyed through reading a printed page, speaking with a supervisor, or processing instructions through a microchip, information sources never experience a loss.¹² Data available to a provider of information is no less available after it has been shared with a second party. Nothing has been consumed. Conversely, given the absence of an information currency, it is difficult to determine

⁹Shannon, Claude (MIT Master's Thesis)

¹⁰The term "bit" was coined by John Tukey upon hearing hearing colleagues at Bell Labs describe the need to name "binary digits". Penzias '89; p. 99.

¹¹Toffler, Alvin; *Powershift*; New York: Bantam Books © Nov. 1990; p. 18.

¹²This may be strictly true only in a quantitative sense. In a qualitative sense, the position of the source may have diminished relative to that of the recipient. For more on "Information Trading" see Schrader '90.

precisely how much the recipient has gained. In an accounting sense, no transaction has occurred that would allow for the rearrangement of assets on a balance sheet. Until a cash or cash equivalent impacts an asset or liability, no change in value takes place.¹³

The conceptual vagueness of information also gives rise to a diversity of opinions on its nature. This lack of consensus leads to problems establishing a consistent set of tools for analyzing and researching it. Various authors have proposed breaking information into types such as numbers, words, and pictures [Penzias '89]; others have proposed attributes such as timeliness [Grochow '72], content [Feltham '68, Lev '72], format [Benbaset and Dexter '85, DeSanctis '84] and cost [Ahituv '80, Kleijnen '80]. Others have borrowed from Claude Shannon's original work in the field of communications and used the entropy function¹⁴ to measure the quantity of information provided by a source describing likely events by their probabilities [Kinchin '57, Lev '69]. Still others distinguish between what the value of information should be -- its normative value -- and its perceived value [Zmud '78, Munroe and Davis '77]. A significant problem, then, is a lack of consensus on how to treat information.

A fourth barrier to successful information management is more philosophical. People tend to consider information, knowledge, and ideas the province of sentient actors, not of unconscious machines.

¹³In the case of a costly database search, for example, current pricing practice assures that a company incurs a liability based on the costs of searching irrespective of whether the search returns with any information. See DIALOG pricing policies. A two tiered pricing policy will almost certainly emerge -- one for the cost of searching and another for the cost of information -- if an information currency gains widespread acceptance. ¹⁴ - Σ i=1 to n Pi log(Pi) This function is derived in Appendix B.

While recognizing this as an organizational and sociopolitical hurdle, the position taken here maintains that such "sentient-centricity" poses an implementation problem rather than a conceptual one. In fact, whether information resides on hardware or software, in personnel or on paper does not impact the volume of data present. Information's storage media affects its accessibility and the ease with which it may be processed. Information media should not affect its quantity.

Value must be affected by storage media, quantity must not. Whether milk is stored in cartons, cases, or cows, its volume is fixed and finite at any point in time. The storage media do, however, create differences in the associated utilities. Price changes with the storage medium and with the nature of the product. Likewise, information stored in vacuum tubes, transistors, magnetic tape, optical disks, or personnel is fixed and finite at any point in time. Here also, the specific information may change and its value depends on where it is stored and how it is used. The medium determines the manner in which data may be used and the costs associated with extracting and processing it. Information available in staff members is difficult to extract but easy to deploy whereas information in print is easy to extract but difficult to deploy. The distinction between quantity and value must be sharp; quantity dictates the units, while value sets the price.

CHAPTER 2

It is a capital mistake to theorize before one has data. -- Sir Arthur Conan Doyle

Existing Theories of Information Measurement

The need for a theory of information management has been recognized for over thirty years. Others have noted as early as 1960,

... there are today no generally accepted criteria ... for deciding what information is needed, how frequently the information is required, how accurate it needs to be, and how the information is to be originated and transmitted.¹⁵

Existing literature ranges from the theoretical to the practical. A selection of these theories sacrifice accuracy for the sake of convenience, while others forego practical methods in favor of elegant theories. The choice lies in selecting the best balance between virtuous theories and theoretical virtues. No one system has gained widespread acceptance, but the existence of so many theories proves the need for one which works.

To place current literature in perspective, Ahituv's framework classifies systems as normative, realistic, or perceived value.¹⁶ "Normative" theories provide the value of information under ideal conditions. These set an upper limit on information value and provide theoretical bases for its quantification. "Realistic" systems of information measurement attempt to quantify differences in the

 ¹⁵R.M Trueblood; "Operations Research -- A Challenge to Accounting;" The Journal of Accountancy; May 1960; p. 50; cited in [Feltham '68].
 ¹⁶See Ahituy '89.

performance of information users. These systems define the value of information as the incremental benefit -- the measurable change in results from differences in decision behavior. "Perceived value" systems gather user impressions of performance independent of actual behavior. Of the five information frameworks which follow, the first two represent normative theories, while the third and fourth theories represent realistic and perceived value proposals, respectively. The fifth proposal combines aspects of both the normative and the perceived value approaches.

Information Economics and Decision Theory

The most commonplace theory of information is decision theory, an economist's adaptation of statistical modeling and choice under uncertainty. As McGuire notes:

... there is a simple and tentatively[†] widely agreed-upon formal structure, ready-to-hand, namely decision theory, which can serve as the abstract basis [for] investigation. ...[[†] footnote -- By "tentatively" is meant that while not all students of information accept the framework we use here for *all* of their own work, nearly all (statisticians for instance) information theorists know the framework and regard it as suitable for analysis of *some* questions.]¹⁷

Treatments of decision theory vary somewhat in their focus and their formal presentation. The most basic of these, Expected Value of Perfect Information (EVPI), is taught in standard textbooks on statistics.¹⁸ EVPI is measured by the difference in expected profit between a decision made with perfect information and under

¹⁷McGuire, C.B.; "Comparisons of Information Structures." in *Decision and Organization*; C.B. McGuire and R. Radner, Eds.; Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, Second Ed.; © 1986; p. 102. ¹⁸Hamburg '87.

¹⁴

A more sophisticated decision theoretic approach, uncertainty. originally proposed by Marschak, has been extended in several useful ways [Mock '71¹⁹, Marschak and Radner '72, Hilton '81]. Decision theory assumes that an information system responds to events in its environment by providing messages, or signals, to a decision maker. Based on an a priori set of preferences, the user responds to these messages deterministically to optimize his expected value. The messages cause him to intervene in the world, effecting the most desirable outcomes. The entire system may be described by the following model.



Figure 2.1 Information may be characterized by its use to effect payoffs. ²⁰					
S = Universal set of states of the world.	r = A partitioning which distin- guishes only those states affect- ing payoffs.				
Z = Set of payoff-relevant events.	η = An information association relating events and messages.				
Y = Set of messages (Information) about the state of the world	α = A decision function (rule) re- lating events and messages.				
A = Set of possible actions.	ω = An outcome function map- ning actions into effects				

-- 00

¹⁹Mock calls this the Economic Value of Information (EVI); see Mock '71. ²⁰Diagram adapted from Mock.

O = Set of possible outcomes (one outcome for each Z, A pair)	
P = Set of payoffs (associated with each outcome).	

v = A utility function relating a payoff (a p_j in P) with each outcome (o_j in O).

This model improves on EVPI by accounting for changes in the user's ability to alter outcomes, for discrepancies in the user's ability to recognize states of the world, and for differences in the nature of his preferences. The function below yields the value of information and is developed in Appendix A.

$$\sum_{y} \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, \alpha(y)]]\phi(s|y)\phi(y) - \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, a]]\phi(s)$$

From these definitions, it is possible to derive several basic principles respecting the determinants of information value.²¹ These factors arise from four interpretations of the model's variables.

- (1) Flexibility -- Changes in the action set A affect the maneuverability of the decision maker.
- (2) Wealth, Technology, and Environment -- The capacity for intervention may also be dictated by a decision maker's initial wealth, his technology, and the environment. This is one interpretation of ω .
- (3) Degree of Prior Uncertainty -- $\phi(s)$ gives the level of uncertainty (perhaps confusion) of a decision maker regarding states of the world.
- (4) Nature of the Information System -- The reliability of the information system and its correspondence to actual states is given by the Bayesian term $\phi(s | y)$.

Hilton '71 undertook a summary of theorems respecting the value of information as characterized along these dimensions. The most useful of these is known as Blackwell's theorem. Given a fixed set of

 $^{^{21}}$ Marschak and Radner '72, Wilson '75, Hilton '81. The following interpretations and summary theorems appear in Hilton.

states S and two distinct information systems providing signals Y_1 and Y_2 , the information provided in the set Y_1 is at least as great as Y_2 if Y_2 is a subset of Y_1 . The statement also holds true if there exists some transformation of a subset of Y_1 which maps onto Y_2 . Blackwell's theorem represents one of few characterizations of the intrinsic value of information independent of the decision problem. It makes no claims, however, about groups of information in which one group is not completely contained within transformations of the other group. This point will motivate multi-attribute theory in a later section (see page 29). The decision theoretic model unfortunately provides few strong general purpose assertions. This model indicates the impossibility of making strong statements. To summarize:

- (1) There is no general monotonic relationship between action flexibility (changes in A) and information value.
- (2) There is no general monotonic relationship between the degree of risk aversion and information value.
- (3) There is no general monotonic relationship between wealth and information value.
- (4) There is no general monotonic relationship between prior uncertainty and information value.²²

Numerous exceptions exist for these theorems, each with their own special set of preconditions. A thorough search has been undertaken for precisely those conditions under which available options, risk aversion, initial wealth, and uncertainty influence information value. In an independent publication, Marschak²³ begins to account for decision delays and obsolescent information.

²²Although it is not generally possible to order probability distributions by degree of uncertainty, a useful measure is given equivalently by (i) all risk averters prefer E(S1) to E(S2); (ii) S2 equals S1 plus noise; (iii) S2 has more weight in the tails. ²³Marschak '71.

Despite these advances and a recognition of their importance, there are three principal difficulties with decision theory. It recognizes no use of information other than for decision making; it assumes a massive amount of foreknowledge; and it focuses on the information setting rather than on the information. Due to the importance of decision theory, each of these problems will be elaborated separately.

Several researchers have recognized that information serves multiple purposes [Mock '71, Zmud '78, Benbasat and Dexter '85, Ahituv '89]. A more complete list of the uses of information was noted in Benbasat and Dexter. In their treatment of the graphical use of information they note that reports may be used for "reading and retrieval of data, communication of facts, comparison of alternatives, trend analysis, recognition and recall, problem finding, problem comprehension and problem solving"²⁴ to which Mock might add learning and feedback, and measuring efficiency. Importantly, even accepting the assumption that measurement of information depends on measurement of the environment (a point debated in a later section), decisions represent only one form in the pantheon of uses of information.

That decision theory relies on prior knowledge may bear little theoretical significance, but in practical terms it renders the theory inapplicable to most problems of more than academic interest. Deployment of the insights gained through decision theory requires a near complete *a priori* awareness of decision criteria, prior probabilities,

²⁴Benbasat, I. and A. Dexter; "An Experimental Evaluation of Graphical and Color-Enhanced Information Presentation;" *Management Science*, Vol. 31, Num. 11, Nov. 1985; p. 1349.

available actions, and prevailing states of the world. These preconditions have led others to conclude:

Theoretically, the information economics approach is very appealing; realistically, it appears impractical (if not impossible for dynamic environments).²⁵

The economic value of information concepts, while being derived from a sound logical construct, have not proven to be of frequent value in the design of more effective information systems... a main reason is that the knowledge prerequisite to the calculations is not available.²⁶

The third difficulty with decision theory is its detour through measures of the environment to measure the value of information. Environments change and therefore the value of information *must* change according to this system. Given fixed and constant information, its value will fluctuate each time the world changes. No other commodity is measured in this extrinsic fashion. Rather, to each product is assigned an intrinsic measure, giving its objective quantity. Value is subjective, reflecting each buyer's willingness to pay for his needs. Decision theory successfully measures the buyer's needs without ever telling the seller what he owns²⁷ -- an issue which will be discussed later. The point is to arrive at a measure of information which is constant with respect to changes in the decision environment.

Information Quantity - The Entropy Function

²⁵Zmud, Robert E.; "An Empirical Investigation of the Dimensionality of the Concept of Information;" *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 9 Num. 2, Feb. 1978; p. 188.

²⁶Mock, T.J.; "Concepts of Information Value and Accounting;" *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 46, Num. 4, Oct. 1971; p. 770.

 $^{^{27}}$ Some might argue this point, contending that the value of the owned information is governed by the cost of producing it. While true, the new owner still has little idea *how much* information he owns. A quantitative approach to information appears in the next section.

In the 1940s, Claude Shannon recognized the equivalence of binary representation and the logical algebra of nineteenth century mathematician George Boole. Shannon's insight forged the critical link tying simple on and off relays to the existing body of mathematical induction. This is the heart of digital logic circuitry and it is what enables manufactured devices to perform the fundamental logical operations. Shannon carried his theories a step further, however, borrowing functions from thermodynamics to estimate how much 'information' such a relay or other communication channel might carry. The relevant function for information quantity is the entropy function, shown below and derived in Appendix B. Symbol p represents the prior probability of a particular event occurring.

$-\sum_{i=1} p_i .log(p_i)$

This measure has been adapted for use in accounting by assuming that the size of any T account relative to the total of all accounts gives a fraction equal to its prior probability [Lev 68, 69]. Application of the entropy function can measure the amount of information loss (or gain) experienced when various accounts are aggregated (or disaggregated) to yield a smaller (or greater) number of categories. The measure works well within -- and in some cases improves upon -- heuristics established by the American Accounting Association for aggregating balance sheet data. The following example illustrates²⁸. In the listing of items from a balance sheet of Boston Edison, certain of the items may be aggregated by the category. Which categories may be combined reflects standard accounting practices but,

²⁸Example developed in Lev; 68.

to a large extent, depends on the discretion of the accountant preparing the financial statements. A question arises as to which of the items ought to be combined and which of the items ought to remain distinct.

1.	Net electric plant in service	327,802,559
2.	Electric plant, construction in process	21,609,430
3.	Net steam plant in service	10,520,537
4.	Steam plant, construction in progress	179,584
5.	Net nonutility property	2,167,063
6.	Other investments	1,758,042
7.	Cash	4.048.773
8.	Special deposits	1.166
9.	Working funds	242,495
10.	Notes receivable	53,004
11.	Customers accounts receivable, net	17,448,883
12.	Other accounts receivable	479,353
13.	Fuel stock	1,218,478
14.	Plant materials, supplies and merchandise	7,176,643
15.	Prepaid insurance	369,210
16.	Other prepaid items	10,028
17.	Rents receivable	40,607
18.	Miscellaneous current and accrued assets	61,032
19.	Unamortized discount series D bonds	41,501
20.	Refunding costs series G bonds	341,875
21.	Temporary facilities	18,249
2 2 .	Deferred debits: Federal income taxes	990,800
23.	Deferred debits: Miscellaneous	321,644
24.	Nonutility property additions	82,193
<u>25</u> .	Sewer use tax	12,037
	Total assets and other debits	396,995,186

Figure 2	2.2	Boston	Edison	Company	, Decer	nber	31,1	.963
		Asset	s and C)ther Debi	ts (Dol	llars)		

A determination is generally made as to the level of significance of the information that would be lost if two or more items were combined. What precisely defines significant? If one allows the amounts of the items to represent the prior probability of information about a dollar allocation, one may interpret the particular asset in terms of the entropy function. Figure 2.3 gives the categories that may be aggregated and the amount of information loss, as determined by the entropy function, that would occur if the categories were represented as one. The total entropy is given by the summation of the entropies of the individual items.

Aggregated		Information Loss	Aggregated	Information Loss		
Item		(10 ⁻⁵ bits)	Item	(10 ⁻⁵ bits)		
1,	2	29,461	10, 12, 11	837		
3,	4	331	13, 14	1,264		
2,	4	378	15, 16	17		
5,	6	981	17, 18	25		
7,	8	4	19, 20	48		
8,	9	3	21, 24	17		
8,	9, 7	345	22, 23	266		
10,	12	63	23, 25	19		

Figure 2.3 -- Analysis of Aggregated Categories

The first two categories dominate the amount of information. Although the categories are potentially mergeable, the amount of information lost or obscured by the merge would probably make it impermissable to do so. Note also that the loss from merging 7 with 8 and merging 8 with 9 is quite small, but the merge of all three is not. Generally, the closer two categories are in approximate size, the greater the amount of information lost.

The real benefit of this framework is that given a fixed standard, perhaps a set loss of no more than 5% of the initial information, it becomes possible to automate the process. It also creates interesting comparisons between companies if the balance sheets are restricted to losses of no more than this fixed percent. Quantity of data lost (or gained) may play a decisive role in generating predictable documents.

Entropy measurements work well under specific circumstances. They aid in the ordinal ranking of groups of similar information, where 'similarity' is judged by an independent standard. Entropy heuristics

22

may also be used in the composition of new groupings of information which minimize loss. But, as in the case of decision theory, the conditions require that a complete and accurate set of *ex ante* probabilities are available and known to the user. It also falls prey to one of the criticisms of decision theory, namely that users lack the omniscience to fully characterize existing states of the world. In the accounting example, fractions of a previously recognized total stand as surrogates for prior probabilities and therefore give a complete description of prior probabilities. Many practical problems do not afford this opportunity.

Difficulties also arise in broadening the applicability of entropy theory to other types of problems. Shannon originally intended to measure only channel capacity, never semantic content. Divorced from meaning, the 'bit' is a difficult unit on which to base estimates of value. In their seminal treatise defining information theory, Shannon and Weaver note that "the word *information*, in this theory, is used in a special sense that must not be confused with its ordinary usage. In particular, information must not be confused with meaning."²⁹ Efforts to measure value through entropy

... usually confront a deficiency inherent in the entropy function: the function does not account for meaning of the events but only for the probability of their occurrence ... it appears that the use of entropy as a measurement for data quantity may be effective, but its use to measure the value of information is quite limited.³⁰

 ²⁹Shannon, Claude and Warren Weaver; The Mathematical Theory of Communication; Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press; © 1949; p. 99.
 ³⁰Op. Cit., Ahituv '89 p. 317.

After an investigation of entropy's relationship to perceived value, Ronen and Falk found that specialized use of the entropy function was valid but:

from a theoretical viewpoint, it seems that the entropy measure cannot be suggested as a general-purpose surrogate for the value of information.³¹

Additional intellectual paradigms are necessary to gauge information value. The following approaches seek to achieve this through a shift to more applied techniques.

Realistic Value of Information

The realistic value of information approaches tend to be empirical and heuristic rather than quantitative. That is, after testing the performance of decision makers in a controlled situation, experimenters determine the value of information inputs and summarize results as guidelines for the construction of decision support systems. For example, "Subjects receiving summary data (in contrast to raw data) had lower total production costs (made better decisions) but took longer to make their decisions and had lower confidence in the quality of their decisions."³² Actual measurement proceeds by measuring user performance at the end of the information usage chain.

³¹Ronen, J. and G. Falk; "Accounting Aggregation and the Entropy Measure: An Experimental Approach;" *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 48, Num. 4, Oct. 1973; p. 697. ³²Dickson, et. al.; "rResearch on Management Information Systems: The Minnesota Experiments;" *Management Science*, Vol. 23, Num. 9, Sept. 1977; p.919.



In these studies, the researchers examine a threefold relationship existing among a decision, a decision maker, and an information system. The 'decision' affects the context and ultimate value; the 'decision maker' determines the user's disposition towards applications of information and his approach to problem solving; and the computer 'information system' affects the quality of the information conveyed. The most noteworthy series of studies have come to be known as the Minnesota Experiments, summarized by Dickson, Senn, and Chervany. The tests took the form of experimental games in which the value of one characteristic of the threefold relationship could be assessed by varying the test conditions. A few of their findings include:

- (1) Subjects receiving summary data rather than raw data make better decisions but are less sure of their choice.
- (2) The ability to customize reports improves decision making capability.
- (3) Cognitive factors (risk aversion, quantitative aptitude, previous experience) may correlate positively with decision outcomes.
- (4) Goal setting improves performance.
- (5) The more timely information of interactive over batch systems improves performance.

In a separate series of experiments, Mock tested the performance of decision makers under two conditions; one group received real-time information while the other received lagged information. Charts of actual performance indicate that the real time group had wider swings

³³Diagram from Ahituv '89; p 320.

in their behavior but, on average, tended to have slightly higher profits. Importantly, however, both groups used information in a feedback sense. Final performance greatly exceeded initial performance for both groups, indicating a different type of information use, namely learning.

The format of information presentation is the subject of a literature review by DeSanctis³⁴ wherein he examines the effect of presentation on the decision maker. Reviewed experiments tested the effectiveness of graphs versus tables, color versus black and white, and great versus modest detail. Researchers judged the success of a particular format according to the level of recall, the time to reach a decision, comprehension, viewer preference, and decision performance. Several "premises" emerged as guidelines for the construction of information systems. A few observations concerning information format which were expressed in the literature include:

- (1) Color may increase attention to a visual but rarely enhances comprehension.
- (2) People prefer and will more successfully recall visuals which more accurately reflect the features of a particular problem.
- (3) Simplicity increases comprehension.
- (4) Evidence suggests that graphs are no better than tables; the optimal format depends on the problem.
- (5) The ability to use a specific format varies with individuals.

The realistic approaches to information measurement tend to correlate reasonably well with the normative values which yield theoretically correct values in dollar terms. This approach is not without problems, however. There are caveats and exceptions, and

³⁴See also Benbasat and Dexter.

particular findings pertain only to particular decisions. Given the variety of success criteria, it is not surprising that some experiments have led to conflicting results.

A particular difficulty reflects the problem of taking accurate measurements. As illustrated in the information chain of Figure 2.4, the distance between the source of data and the actual outcome is quite large. This distance represents what the realistic approaches attempt to measure and it introduces several sources of variability -- the idiosyncracies of the decision maker, of a particular working software package, and of restrictions on the available actions -- which have nothing to do with the value of the actual information.

The realistic approaches, having been designed to apply the decision theoretic approaches, suffer from similar criticisms. Their results depend on a specific problem and consequently test only for extrinsic information qualities. Advocates of the entropy function and of multi-attribute theory (developed in a subsequent section) recognize the importance of attributes such as quantity which transfer across contexts.

Perceived Value of Information

Results obtained through perceived value approaches parallel those of the realistic approaches in that both are largely empirical. The perceived value of information is determined by querying the decision maker about the value of the information he receives.



Point of Measurement

Experiments to test perceived value may ask managers their opinion of information, a soft estimate of value. A more sophisticated approach is to request the maximum amount a manager is willing to pay for information, indicating the demand price, or to request the minimum amount a manager is willing to receive in lieu of information, indicating the supply price.

Studies of the monetary equivalence or willingness to pay concluded,³⁶ however, that the perceived value of information did not correlate well with normative measures except to the extent that users were informed of prior probabilities. Surveys of managerial satisfaction with information systems and information attributes found that the information provided was generally useful and appreciated.³⁷ Other authors surveyed managers with respect to various information attributes, finding that certain attributes were preferred, for example, relevance, accuracy, quantity, reliability, and readability³⁸. These attributes fell into four broad categories corresponding to quality, relevance, format, and meaning. The utility of presentation formats also appears in literature covering the realistic value of information.³⁹

³⁵Ibid.

³⁶Ronen and Falk '73.

³⁷Adams '75.

 $^{^{38}}$ Zmud '78. Two other features, factualness (truth) and reasonableness, seem fairly indistinguishable from these six features. Adams '75 examines a similar set of features.

³⁹DeSanctis '84.

Efforts to quantify these attributes appear in the following section on multi-attribute theory.

Differences between the optimal value and the perceived value of information create measurement problems. Potential explanations have suggested that users "satisfice" -- that is, individuals may seek to find a minimally acceptable solution in lieu of a potentially expensive (in effort) optimal solution⁴⁰. The subjectivity of the perceived value approaches, however, makes them suspect as a basis for developing units of measurement.

The best use of perceived value is not as a unit of measure but as an index of user satisfaction. Untrained users may misinterpret the essential features of information, but information systems which cater to user perceptions tend to win their favor. Although this carries little significance for information theory, it plays a critical role in information system design.

Multi-Attribute Utility Theory

Between the sterile canons of decision theory and the managerial oversimplifications of perceived value systems, intermediate ground exists. Multi-attribute theory begins to quantify the features of information which users find valuable. Various authors have proposed quantifiable dimensions of information. Feltham '68 considers relevance, timeliness, reporting delays, and accuracy. Ahituv '80 attempts to measure content, format, timeliness, and cost. Barua et alia '89 introduce useful mathematical interpretations of signal timing, reporting frequency, monitoring period, signal resolution, intrinsic

⁴⁰Newman '80.

accuracy, and intrinsic informativeness. These last three attributes are based primarily on Blackwell's theorem regarding the aggregation of data and the transformation of one group of signals into a smaller subset. As used in the Barua article, these terms relate more to levels of detail than to "accuracy" or "informativeness" as commonly understood. The literature indicates no widespread agreement has emerged on a core set of representative attributes. A few examples of the more interesting attribute definitions introduce representations of an inchoate system of information measurement.

Relevance: Without offering a specific mathematical interpretation, Feltham discusses two versions of "relevance". The first *ex post* definition is that "if a signal changed the decision, then the information provided by that signal was relevant."⁴¹ Rejecting this definition as unhelpful at the time of the decision, he proposes an *ex ante* definition in terms of the information system itself. He proposes that a change to the *system* be considered relevant if, for some of the events which might occur, "some of the signals will be different, and some of these differences will lead to differences in the decisions made."⁴² A mathematical representation of relevant changes to the information system might then be given in terms of the probabilities of changed decisions.

Content: Ahituv proposes the similarity of two data sets as a measure of their information content. For any given decision, Ahituv assumes that an ideal set of signals Y^* may be determined whereas the

 ⁴¹Feltham, G.A.; "The Value of Information;" Accounting Review, Vol. 43, Num. 4, Oct. 1968; p. 691.
 ⁴²Ibid.

actual set of signals provided by an information system is Y. For the two data sets, there are three potential classifications of Y's intersection with Y^* .



On this basis, the level of similarity is defined as:

$$s = \frac{|m_1|}{|m_1| + |m_2|} - \frac{|m_3|}{|m_1| + |m_3|}$$

The scale of similarity ranges from -1 for completely unrelated information to 1 for identical information. For disjoint sets, $(|m_1| = 0)$, S is at its minimum of -1. For completely overlapping sets, $(|m_2| = |m_3| = 0)$, S reaches its zenith. Two other possible cases are Y is a subset of Y^{*}, $(|m_2| = 0; |m_3| > 0)$, for insufficient information and Y is a superset of Y^{*}, $(|m_2| > 0; |m_3| = 0)$, for excess information. In these cases, -1 < S < 0 and 0 < S < 1 respectively.

As in the two preceding cases, a majority of proposed attributes still suffer from the same criticisms as the decision theoretic approaches they are intended to augment. Attributes that rely on the decision context change in value with changes in the environment and they require a foreknowledge of prior probabilities. They rely on payoffrelevant as opposed to cost-relevant details. Barua summarizes:

... confusion exists in a section of the evaluation literature due to mixing of intrinsic and extrinsic attributes and decision characteristics... While intrinsic attributes can be compared for two [information systems] without reference to a decision context, it is not meaningful to use extrinsic attributes as dimensions of information [value].⁴³

Accordingly, Barua et alia develop intrinsic attributes. A few examples follow.

Signal Timing: The point in time when a decision maker receives a signal is defined as the information system's signal timing. If the action set A of the decision maker changes over time, then intrinsic signal timing will impact the value of the signal. In particular, if the number of options is declining, namely $\partial A / \partial t < 0$, then earlier information is more valuable. On the other hand, if the action set remains constant, then the value of timeliness is zero.

Signal Resolution: Applying Blackwell's ideas, an information system IS₁ is said to possess higher signal resolution than IS₂ if the signals produced by IS₂ are a subset of the signals produced by IS₁, i.e. $Y_1 \supseteq Y_2$. For example, IS₁ might include data on demand, inventory, and prices whereas IS₂ only reports on demand and inventory. Resolution may also refer to data aggregation such as from daily to monthly demand. On this basis, it becomes possible to demonstrate costs associated with lower than adequate resolution.

⁴³Barua, et al.; "MIS and Information Economics: Augmenting Rich Descriptions with Analytical Rigor in Information Systems Design;" *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Information Systems*, Dec. 4-6, 1989; p. 330.

Let the state of the world be such that prevailing demand in two areas takes on only two values, s_1 , $s_2 \in \{100, 200\}$ and further allow the cost function to be given by $z(a_1, a_2, s_1, s_2) = 4(a_1 - s_1) + 6(a_2 - s_2)^2$. The potential states of demand are characterized by $(s_1, s_2) = (100, 100), (100,$ 200), (200, 100) or (200, 200). Now assuming that an information system has the ability only to report aggregate demand, it reports only $y_i = \{200,$ 300, 400}. Given aggregate reporting on states (100, 200) and (200, 100) the only appropriate action is to assume $a_1 = a_2 = 150$. The cost of this imperfect assumption is $4(150 - 100) + 6(150 - 200)^2 = 15,200$ or 4(150 - 200) $+ 6(150 - 100)^2 = 14,800$. Had the signals provided adequate resolution, the costs would have remained at 0. Lower than adequate resolution may therefore be shown to have negative value. On the other hand, higher than adequate resolution may also be shown to carry additional cost since additional information processing is required to reduce it to the payoff-relevant level.

General Observations on Existing Theories

Ahituv asserts that information and data are different --"knowing the price of gold tomorrow is very valuable, while knowing the price of gold a year ago is an unimportant piece of data"⁴⁴ While true, the same may be said of any future resources that are deployed ahead of their time. Anyone owning a modern supercomputer a century ago would dominate the world of computation-intensive problem solving and would enjoy the economic benefits such capabilities would grant. Owning that same computer a century into the future would be no more

⁴⁴Ahituv, Niv; "Assessing the Value of Information: Problems and Approaches;" *Proceedings of the 10th Annual International Conference on Information Systems*, Dec. 4-6, 1989; p.315.

valuable than owning a slide-rule in the company of a personal computer. In fact, this example does not distinguish information as unique from other resources. Rather, it demonstrates the principle of scarcity. Were it the case that other market participants also knew tomorrow's price of gold, the value of this information would decrease in proportion to the number of people who owned it. Information, like gold, also derives its price from scarcity. If gold were as common as sea water, economics dictate that it would carry a similar price. In order to prove information singularly idiosyncratic and difficult to measure, the important question is not to identify issues which make measuring information difficult, but to identify issues which set it apart from other resources which do not face similar problems in their measurement. This essay contends that a comparison of information to other resources shows such differences to be rare.

A similar assertion is that "...the value of information cannot be separated from the value of an information system for exploiting the information."⁴⁵ The supporting argument suggests that if an individual possessed of tomorrow's price of gold were marooned on an island, then the value to its owner is negligible. Without the means of exploiting knowledge, the value to its owner falls to zero. Again, this assessment of value rings true. But again, the claim is equally true for other commodities. Without the means to exploit it, the value of a gold ingot falls to zero. In fact, all resources are valued by the processes which extract, produce, or manipulate them. The implications for resource value, however, are completely independent of the implications for

⁴⁵Ibid.

resource quantity. Fortunately, it does not follow that information quantity may not be separated from the mechanisms which process it. To add concreteness to this example, one might consider the fall in the price of gold with the 1890 introduction of the cyanide extraction process. The new process increased the yield of gold per ton of crushed stone and decreased the cost relative to the prevalent mercury extraction process. Likewise, the relative cost of producing agricultural products declined with the invention of chemical fertilizers, the invention of better pesticides, and the development of improved transportation systems. When purchasing a sack of flour, one also implicitly pays for the nitrogen, the malathion, the truck and equipment used to process it.

This does not prevent one, however, from establishing a price for five pounds of flour, nor do similar arguments necessarily prevent one from establishing a price for five units of a given type of information. As in the previous example where scarcity affects the price, processing will also affect the price. But, these problems are not unique to information and focusing on them is to seize upon the wrong set of issues. One must examine that which is unique to information; move from these unique attributes to a unit of measurement; then submit these measures to the market to establish what the market is willing to pay per unit.

In general, most existing information taxonomies would fail what will be called the Phone Book/Physics Text test. The test is proposed as follows. Given 200 pages from a college physics text and 200 pages from a telephone directory, and having translated these writings into the format native to an information taxonomy, can that taxonomy make any useful statements about their relative information quantities or values independent of any specific decision context? If it cannot, then the

35

applicability of the theory to managerial decision making is likely to be limited. The reason for posing the problem "independent of any specific decision context" is to force recognition of intrinsic as opposed to extrinsic value. It is possible to construct pedagogical examples in which the "information" provided by the phone book is more useful to a specific decision and hence, in context, more valuable. This yields a strictly contextual value. This essay, however, seeks to disclose and clarify an intrinsic rather than contextual measure of information. The normative approaches to information assessment generally have little to say about information devoid of context. The perceived value (or subjective) approaches, on the other hand, correlate badly with the normative approaches, making it almost impossible to measure information objectively.

Quantity and value, although related, are orthogonal concepts. A thousand board feet of knotty pine and an equal amount of black walnut will construct the same number of shelves, but the prices charged will be very different. Increased quantity need not connote positive value; if the "product" is toxic, *more* brings the producer *less* income. Price reflects value as distinct from quantity, and a variety of attributes must enter into a market's determination of utility. Constructing a theory of information quantity assessment requires establishing units of information as well as the attributes from which a market may determine a price.

36
CHAPTER 3

Because a skeptical questioner had stumbled on the right question, pertinent information emerged from the mass of stored data. -- Arno Penzias

Proposed Theory -- Definition of Information Quantity Assessment (IQA)

In response to the information investment questions posed in the introduction, this section develops a classification framework to cover attributes and measurements.

This information taxonomy seeks to provide a language for making strong statements about defined classes rather than broader but weaker inferences. Weak or generic guidelines have little value; superficial theories lack actionable conclusions. Managers cannot base decisions on abstract generalities. Categorizing information, on the other hand, allows one to examine different mechanisms for creating value for different types of information. The hierarchy proposed here divides information into these categories: description, instruction, and principle.

Definition of Terms

Description: This class of information contains historical facts. These are data which communicate times, locations, amounts, personnel and other details which record the past and present activities of a firm. Examples include scanner data, mailing lists, inventory records, and tax receipts. For measurement purposes, the unit of description is the "relation," adapted from relational database

terminology.⁴⁶ "The term *relation* is used here in its accepted mathematical sense. Given sets $S_1, S_2, ..., S_n$ (not necessarily distinct), R is a relation on these n sets if it is a set of n-tuples each of which has its first element from S_1 , its second element from S_2 , and so on. We shall refer to S_j as the *j*th *domain* of R."⁴⁷ In a spreadsheet of **m** rows and **n** columns, the number of relations is **m**, the number of domains is **n** and the number of total data points is **nm**.

Instruction: Processes, the second class of information, are sets of instructions providing sufficient detail for an agent to execute the steps of a plan. If *description* addresses the details of "who," "what," and "how much," then *instruction* addresses the details of "how." For physical processes, instructions indicate the physical translation or transformation to be performed on inputs to production. Examples of instructions include the steps in an assembly line or the steps in servicing a part. In addition to physical instructions, there are conceptual instructions such as the mathematical operators. The number of steps in a process gives its quantity of measure. Each instruction changes the state of a description.

"Instruction" was chosen to describe this class of data since it does not imply a whole "process" nor does it necessarily suggest a "purpose." One instruction is a single atomic step. The name suggests intervening

⁴⁶ Although implementation issues will not be dealt with in detail, a few observations should be noted. In general, anything that may be represented in a database may be stored as the value for an observation. For practical purposes, however, the observations are assumed to be numeric. Even non-numeric data may be represented numerically so long as they comprise elements from a countably infinite set. ⁴⁷ Op. Cit., Codd '70; p. 379.

in the state of a physical or conceptual world to change the description which characterizes it.

The dichotomy present in an expert system database represents a useful analogy. Expert systems typically contain both declarative and procedural data. The declarative data may be compared to descriptions and the procedural data to instructions. Rather than a one to one correspondence, however, the facts and rules in an expert system database frequently contain multiple descriptions or steps respectively. The inference engine or driver of an expert system also contains instructions. The inference engine, however, contains implicit rather than explicit steps and it tends to be less accessible to the users than is the rulebase.⁴⁸

Principle: The third class of information deals with properties of data. Principles represent information applied to itself. Under this system, there are two types of principles, *formulae* and second order descriptions or *characterizations*. A formula (or correlation) is defined by a pairwise association of two or more descriptive domains in which one of these domains is the dependent variable and the others are independent variables. Formulae include the intercepts and coefficients which approximate the dependent domain. Importantly, formulae do not assume any causal relationship between sets of highly correlated descriptions. A characterization, on the other hand, gives a description of a domain. Representative examples are its range, its mean, and its

⁴⁸Interactions would be implemented as 3-tuples. The first element represents an initial description (a relation), the second is an operation, and the third is a final description. (Spanning algorithms exist, any complex process may be defined if the initial and final descriptions are allowed to be multiple relations)

standard deviation. In either case, the appropriate measure of this class of information is the number of principles actually maintained. A combinatorial explosion of principles is possible from any growing database of descriptions but the number of principles will grow only with the number of correlations actually drawn.⁴⁹ Formulae and characterizations are statistical analyses of descriptive data.

There are two reasons for the definitions proposed in this classification model, or Information Quantity Assessment (IQA). One of these is to eliminate the subjective bias which computers find difficult to manipulate. Machines poorly handle "gut feel," "intuition," and experience-based bias. Measuring quantity permits the derivation of objective measures of information, which in turn enables computers to manage it. Context sensitivity and causality are specifically excluded from the framework. Nevertheless, as will be demonstrated, the criteria of objective tests of value.

The existing information economics approaches are theoretically capable of being run on computer, but as a practical matter, the unavailability of prior probabilities makes this all but infeasible. The non-quantitative approaches, on the other hand, do not provide either the units or the objectivity which would permit their encoding into software. IQA provides both units and objectivity.

⁴⁹The implementation of principles would be the same as that for descriptions. Elements of a relation for domain i might be (lower bound, mean, domain i x domain j correlation, ...)

Since statistical operations and quantity measurements are programmable, applying the IQA framework to quantify information enables a computer to become a more sophisticated information processor. The quantity-based framework provides a stepping stone to measurements of value. More sophisticated design work, process enhancement, principle manipulations, and determinations of information management efficiency become programmable. The framework facilitates computer performance of functions which are generally associated with white collar labor.

The second point, and single greatest improvement on existing information frameworks, is that breaking information into classes provides an intrinsic element of semantic content. One criticism of the entropy function is that the "bit" is devoid of meaning. Unable to measure semantic content, logarithms and prior probabilities hold little value for aspiring managers of information. Segregating information by its function gives a measure of its utility based on how it can be used. Descriptions are provided as a means for identifying states of the world. Instructions provide a means of changing from one state to another. Principles govern behavior and provide the criteria for selecting desirable descriptions and desirable instructions. Information's function implies content. By forcing an examination of information function, IQA provides a closer approximation of information meaning. No existing theory of information attempts to approach information through its class or function.

Attributes

Useful dimensions for evaluating information utility emerged from the empirical research on information attributes. Managers offered strong opinions on features that they found valuable. Unfortunately many of these attributes were not intrinsic features while others were not defined in terms of specific numerical indices. This prevents one from comparing bodies of information across contexts. Zmud, for example, provides an excellent set of attributes but without indices, while Ahituv provides attributes which are dependent on the context.

Focusing on classes of information makes the measurement of attributes simpler since the nuances of a specific attribute may change with the information function. The units proposed for classes of information are the number of relations, the number of instructions (or process steps), and the number of principles, respectively. The attributes which affect value may be interpreted differently according to the class of information to which they apply. The definitions provided below consider the class of information relevant to providing numerical measurements. Eight attributes are proposed here: redundancy, completeness, exhaustiveness, novelty, accuracy, time, interest, and relevance. The interpretation of an attribute varies with the class of information to which it applies. (A table summarizing these attributes appears on pages 47-48.)

Redundancy: As it concerns descriptions, redundancy addresses the degree to which a set of relations are unique within a given database. Duplicate descriptions have little value for the owner and in fact may increase the cost of processing descriptive information. Redundancy of

instructions measures the extent to which different steps or collections of steps achieve identical final descriptions from identical initial descriptions. This indicates the number of choices one has in choosing how to move from one state to another. Whereas redundancy of descriptions may be harmful, redundancy of instructions may be useful since they represent an expanded set of choices. As in the case of description, the redundancy of principles measures the percentage of duplication. The opposite of redundancy is uniqueness.

Completeness: For descriptive information, completeness measures the number of orthogonal axes recorded in distinct domains. The greater the number of different types of domains included in a description, the greater is its completeness. The presence of domains which may be derived from other domains does not contribute to a more complete description. Similarly, the number of orthogonal axes maintained gives the completeness of the set of principles.

With respect to instructions, completeness measures the percentage of atomic instructions from an overall process which have actually been specified. In a chain of instructions, it indicates how many links may be missing. The value of a process may be negligible unless the complete set of instructions or steps which comprise it are known. It is not uncommon, for example, for software companies to distribute demonstration versions of their packages with a few critical instructions disabled. The entire set of instructions for the process is therefore incomplete.

Exhaustiveness: Whereas completeness measures the thoroughness of information *across* dimensions, exhaustiveness measures the thoroughness *within* a dimension. For description,

exhaustiveness measures the number of available relations as a percentage of the total possible relations. This might be, for example, the percentage of published numbers in a telephone directory which if exhaustive would contain both published and unpublished numbers. For principles, exhaustiveness also measures the "fullness" of a particular domain.

For processes, exhaustiveness describes the number of available instructions as a percentage of known instructions. Here, the difference between exhaustivness and completeness is that exhaustive instructions include all members from a set of arbitrary commands whereas complete instructions include all the ordered members in a contiguous chain which accomplishes a specific task.

Novelty: Ubiquity and novelty define opposite ends of a spectrum of values ranging from 0 to 1. The scale may be viewed as the percent novelty and is defined as the inverse of the number of databases which share any of the three classes of information. In other words, if there exists only one database which contains a unit of information then it is completely novel and is represented as 1 or 100%. If, on the other hand, a database were infinitely shared or duplicated, then it would be completely ubiquitous and is represented as 0. Novelty must be distinguished from uniqueness. Information is unique if it appears only once in a database while it is novel if it resides in only one database.

Accuracy: For both descriptions and principles, accuracy measures the degree to which the recorded values match actual conditions. For example, a customer mailing list may be 100% accurate at the time a company compiles it. After a time, a fraction of the names on the mailing list no longer correspond to the locations where the

customers may be reached. Likewise, the addition of new observations to a set of descriptions will change the accuracy of the principles associated with them.

For instructions, accuracy translates to yield. This indicates the fraction of times that execution of a specific instruction will achieve the final state. Correspondingly, the accuracy of a chain of instructions, or the yield of a process, is the multiplication of the yields of each of the individual steps.

Time: For descriptions and principles, time provides the instant when the information was first recorded. This provides a means of discovering the age of a particular state of the world. For processes, which create transitions between states, the attribute measures elapsed time. This is the duration of a single instruction or a series of instructions.

Interest: The level of interest for information provides a measure of its anomaly with respect to related information. The measure of relevance of an observation is its deviation from the norm as captured in the principles which describe its domain. In this way, all initial observations are "relevant" or interesting, since there is no established norm, as are all observations that fall beyond a few standard deviations once several observations have been recorded. The "interestingness" of a particular observation will grow or diminish depending on whether succeeding observations fall closer to or farther from the mean respectively. This definition serves to perform anomaly detection.⁵⁰ No

⁵⁰This technique is used in Coverstory, an expert system which searches for "interesting" behavior in large databases of UPC scanner data. [see Little '88]

measure of anomaly for principles has been established and therefore the interestingness of a particular principle is not defined.

The interestingness of a process corresponds to the constancy with which it executes. This is also defined in terms of standard deviations but may apply to several other attributes. Interest, in this case, may be the standard deviation of the accuracy (yield) or of time (duration).

Relevance: This implies a measure of goodness or interest but it only has meaning in an implied context. The difficulty with this attribute lies in giving it a mathematical significance which maintains the properties of objectivity and computability for the system of information as a whole. Relevance is therefore defined as follows.

To provide a context, relevance for an operation or process is defined in terms of two arbitrarily complete descriptions. The measure of relevance gives the percent distance that a single instruction moves the values of an initial description towards the values of a final description. A description of completeness five would have five variables each accounting for 20% of the relevance. Variables with initial descriptions equal to their final descriptions may be dropped from the calculations. Instructions may be relevant, irrelevant, or even negatively relevant if they move the initial conditions away from the final conditions.

For descriptions and principles, the measure of relevance is the number of domains which match the domains bearing on a decision problem. This will be determined by a decision maker and is the only attribute which is defined for an external context. It simply provides a

mechanism for restricting information to the information subset useful in a decision theoretic sense.

Trends: Additional information value is given by changes in these eight attributes over time. If the accuracy decay rate is high then the subjective value implied by this objective measure will likely be reduced. From an age and a deterioration rate, one may easily determine the date when a set of descriptions becomes valueless or when the yield on a process will be so low as to render it unprofitable. Rates of attribute change provide a ready mechanism for secondary attributes. "Durability" of information, for example, may be defined in terms of the accuracy decay rate.

Quantity	Description	Instruction	Principle
Units	The number of rela-	The number of pro-	The number of rela-
	tions; integer.	cessing steps or in-	tions or formulae;
		structions; integer.	integer.
Quality	Description	Instruction	Principle
Redundancy	Fraction of duplicate	Fraction of alterna-	Fraction of equiva-
	relations; percent.	tive instructions	lent relations or for-
		which the achieve same effect: percent.	mulae; percent.
Completeness	For entire description	Defined for a process	The number of di-
	the number of or-	or chain of instruc-	mensions whose val-
	thogonal dimen-	tions the fraction of	ues may be character-
	sions; integer. For	instructions actually	ized or predicted to an
	one dimension the	specified from a set	arbitrary level of con-
	fraction of relations	defining a process;	fidence; integer.
	with recorded data;	percent.	
	percent.		
Exhaustiveness	For a domain within	The fraction of in-	For a domain within
	a description the	structions familiar	a principle the
	fraction of relations	relative to the number	fraction of relations
	from the total number	known; percent	from the total number
	possible; percent		possible; percent
Novelty	The inverse of the	The inverse of the	The inverse of the
	number of owners of	number of owners of	number of owners of
	this data; range 0 to 1.	this data; range 0 to 1.	this data; range 0 to 1.

Figure 3.1 -- List of units of measure and attributes by class.

Accuracy	The degree to which	The instruction	Confidence level:
. locuracy	recorded volues	mield: noreont (Pro	poreopt
	recorded values	yield, percent. (FIO-	percent.
	match actual histori-	cess yield is the	
	cal values; percent.	multiplication of	
		each instruction's	
		yield)	
Time	The recording date of	The duration of the	The recording date of
	the description; time.	instruction: time.	the principle: time.
		(Process duration is	
		the sum of each in-	
		struction time)	
Tratomost	Distance from the	Instruction interest is	Not Defined
interest	Distance from the	instruction interest is	Not Defined.
	norm for a given di-	the yield distance	
	mension; standard	from average yield or	
	deviation.	time distance from	
		average time; stan-	
		dard deviation	
Relevance	The number of di-	The fraction of the	The number of di-
(defined ex-	mensions bearing on	distance achieved	mensions bearing on
trinsically)	a decision problem;	from an initial de-	a decision problem
-	integer.	scription to a final	characterized by a
		description, averaged	principle: integer.
		over the number of af-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		fected dimensions	
		nercent	
		porcent.	

Assumptions

• There exists, or one may define, an information currency (quantity).

• Quantity is the requisite for determining value.

• To determine information quantity, it must be treated just as one would treat other valuable commodities.

• From quantity, the market will determine value.

IQA Use and Characterization

The definitions above address the issues which explain the lack of widely accepted information valuation techniques. The quantification of units of information and of those attributes which characterize it defined in the previous section may serve as the foundation for an information currency. If information is to function as a commodity for which a price may be set, buyer and seller must know the quantity of information to be exchanged. The lack of consensus on measures of information stems from an attempt to measure it subjectively in the context of a specific decision. By focusing on intrinsic rather than extrinsic features, it becomes possible to derive objective measures which remain constant with respect to different decision contexts.

From the definition of units, one may also define a transaction. Once an information asset has been quantified, a transaction occurs when any unit of information changes hands. Although the seller may not necessarily lose information, the buyer gains a measurable increase in one type of asset. Regardless of whether the buyer has a specific use for the quantity of information purchased, he will be able to convert it to other types of assets by relinquishing ownership to a third party (and destroying his own copy) so long as the market has agreed upon a fair price for the transaction. The remaining impediment to developing metrics involves a distinction between types of information media. The most reasonable strategy is to account for these differences through the costs associated with encoding and using information resident in different media. Although important, cost issues are orthogonal to issues of quantity. Any finite medium can contain no more than a finite amount of information at any point in time.

When units and classes of information have been defined, bodies of information can be related to one another in order to assess efficiencies of information use. Accounting provides indices of corporate health by various measures of solvency, efficiency, and profitability. These categories can be applied to information as well, although careful

interpretation is required; all ratios are relative rather than absolute. Inventory turnover for a heavy industries manufacturer will be markedly different than for a retailer. Three indicators of information health are defined as follows. Information solvency measures whether there exists sufficient information to operate. Solvency, in this case, measures how much information is on hand or is at least accessible for use. Information efficiency indicates the degree to which information is well used. Although typical measures of efficiency may relate the quantity of a good produced relative to the quantity of resources consumed, the nature of information makes this difficult; information is Tests of leverage, however, may still apply. never destroyed. Information efficiency measures quantity of information output in terms of quantity of input. Information profitability measures how much information is produced. Whereas solvency describes the quantity available, profitability describes the rate of new information generation. Marginal information generation ought to be high enough to ensure adequate new information to invest back into the business. As with basic economic profitability, the nongeneration of new information indicates a stagnant operation. One index may portend the other.

Numeric indices make information ratios possible. A straightforward measure of solvency is given by the quantity of each class of information available for use. Treated as simply another resource, a supply of information must be included in inventory in the form of descriptions, instructions, and heuristics adequate to commence operations. Analysis of the relative proportions of each information class could indicate the health of a business. The percentage of recently redesigned processes and of new principles generated may serve as

rough indicators of white collar productivity -- one measure of efficiency. Once information becomes a recognized commodity, the level of information output may be used as a measure of productivity. Recognizing information as a commodity, a manager might measure potential waste, losses due to the non-capture and non-storage of information. A manager might also measure information leakage, the amount of data generated by his organization which is simply given away with unrealized revenue. The distribution of financial documents to nonshareholders represents a good example. Information profitability may depend on recently generated formulae. If old formulae remain in use when the underlying data have changed, cash profits may decline. The appropriate relative proportions of each information class must depend on the nature of the business, and the search for new principles ought to be planned, not randomly sought. Measures of information solvency, efficiency, and profitability represent research topics of considerable potential.

Despite its emphasis on quantity, the IQA framework carries implications for information value as well. Precisely defined objective measurements often lead to clearer understanding of seemingly subjective value judgements. For example, one telling criticism of most information measurement schemes concerns their inability to account for obsolescence. Knowledge frequently becomes obsolete with the emergence of superior knowledge which detracts from established value. The issue of identifying obsolete information, however, may be changed into a question of identifying obsolete information by class. Obsolescence of descriptive information implies that a given description has been supplanted by a more recent or more accurate description -- the underlying world state characterized by a description has changed. But this may be directly measured by the description's *accuracy*. The apparently subjective interpretation of obsolescence receives a full accounting under the objective IQA framework. A similar argument applies for principles. For a principle to become obsolete, one of two conditions must exist. Either the underlying descriptive information characterized by the principle has changed -- its accuracy has diminished -- or a new principle has been discovered which has a higher confidence level. Establishing the current accuracy of a principle may require a reexamination of the underlying description. But, in either case, a comparison of the accuracies of the existing and newly discovered principles will serve to expose obsolete information.

Instructions and processes do not become obsolete in the sense that their initial or final descriptions have changed. Rather, a process becomes obsolete because it loses in a comparative value test with a more efficient process. The attributes of an information quantity assessment serve to capture the relative values here as well. Compared to the more efficient process, the obsolete process will score less well on one of the axes of time, number of steps, completeness (which would reflect a new type of instruction), or yield per unit of input (accuracy). Subjective judgement criteria may be interpreted through objective tests if the details of the criteria are sufficiently specific to allow for testing.

Information value assessment may derive from other aspects of information quantity assessment. The distinction between foreknowledge and discovery makes this clearer⁵¹. Foreknowledge

⁵¹Hirschleifer '71.

describes advance information about states of the world, such as the future price of a stock. All that is required to confirm foreknowledge is for sufficient time to pass until the world reveals the accuracy of the Discovery, on the other hand, describes a recognition of insight. information that possibly already exists but which remains hidden from view. Work is required to extract discoveries such as the properties of materials or physical laws but nature will not normally reveal them. This distinction roughly parallels the distinction between description and principle. Descriptions represent observations that the state of the world has revealed. Principles have required expended effort to uncover them. Discoveries and principles have the added advantage that they are useful for prediction. These principles may indicate an underlying relationship or a strong correlation which may be exploited by creating foreknowledge, or a future description. Past or present description cannot yield foreknowledge. Only through application of the underlying principle can foreknowledge be obtained. To this extent, principle is likely to be more useful than description. Whether the price reflects this, however, is for the market to decide.

This returns the debate over information frameworks to the Phone Book/Physics Text test. Does IQA have anything useful to say respecting the relative advantages of each body of information? For comparisons of the quantities and types of information, the answer is yes. The physics text contains a much higher percentage of principle information than the phone book, which is purely description. The textbook may also contain instructions on the application of its principles as well as historical facts. In this sense, the physics text is more diverse in the classes of information it contains. The phone book, however, contains a greater number of units of description, due to the density of a chart format relative to natural language. In absolute terms, the physics text contains more process and principle information; the phone book contains more description. The relative advantage or value of these two types of information will depend on the application.

Several of the IQA attributes offer further axes of comparison. Although at the time of first printing, each volume may have been equally *accurate*, the decay rate of the phone book is higher as the residents of a community move. Information in the phone book is therefore less durable. Information in the phone book is also less *complete* but more *exhaustive*. It contains only three categories of information -- name, address, and telephone number -- but each dimension contains a nearly exhaustive listing of the telephone information in an area. In contrast, the physics text will span a much larger set of categories but probably not exhaust the material in each of its categories as thoroughly as a phone book exhausts the names in a city. The *redundancy* of each information source will probably be similar. Neither will contain much repeat information. Comparisons of *novelty* will depend on the number of owners of the respective texts.

Which should cost more? Here, the answer depends on the market's relative preferences for description, instruction, and principle as well as the attributes associated with each. The market for information represents an average of the total demand for uses of information. Depending on market needs at various points in time, the relative prices of each class will change. Then, even if the market does not change, the application may. Novelty is a critical virtue in selling the market a patent, which is process information. Novelty, however, is a liability in selling the market a copyrighted computer operating system, which is also process information. High scores on an attribute do not necessarily equate with price. An information quantity assessment merely provides axes for making comparisons.

In general, tests of information similarity reveal relative value for intra-class comparisons only. Along any particular axis, the framework will define relative values. Across axes, the relationship breaks down and comparisons are not instructive. What are tests of similarity? For description, comparative tests apply to identical or isomorphic dimensions even if the data are not identical or isomorphic. If two descriptions pertain to the same data elements, for example street address and zip code, then it is possible to draw meaningful comparisons. This is a broader concept than Blackwell's criterion since one data set need not be a subset of (or stochastic transformation of) another. For processes, tests of similarity depend on identical initial and final states. Since the beginning and ending conditions are identical, the route becomes the issue of importance. Evaluations of relative value may distinguish the number of steps, the time of the instructions, the yield, and the costs of each step. For principles, comparative tests also apply to the dimensions. Estimates of relative value will rely on completeness and the level of confidence (predictive power).

CHAPTER 4

When establishment of [the] mapping of real things into the commodities of theory is not so easy, theory has very little to say. -- C. B. McGuire

Don't tell me how hard you work. Tell me how much you get done. -- James J. Ling

Potential Information Use in the Air Cargo Industry

The IQA framework was designed in the hopes that it might prove both theoretically and managerially useful. In order to test its applicability, IQA concepts are used to approach several problems enumerated below. The problems are representative of broader issues but are nominally set in the air cargo industry due to its heavy reliance on information technologies and its continuous study of its own processing capabilities. The net margins on air cargo tend to be quite low, typically pennies per package. This fact leads industry competitors to seek ways of differentiating their products and of increasing delivery efficiencies. Some of these problems, such as process redesign, are longstanding issues in any managerial setting, while others, such as massive data management, are fairly specific to large consumer companies. In some instances, IQA offers special advantages over existing management techniques due to its treatment of information as a commodity. In other cases, it represents an alternative method for expediting a given problem using no additional overhead. The advantage of the new framework is that the same framework has a large variety of applications.

Information Quantity Assessment provides a framework for defining information as an asset or commodity in order manage information actively. IQA seeks to ultimately increase a company's profitability and competitiveness by supplying the means to quantify information for use in accounting and strategic planning. Through the "productization" of information, IQA encourages the creation of new information products as sources of incremental income. Using the framework will also allow managers to evaluate the efficiencies of a company's information, and realize cost savings through reduced waste and decreased redundancy.

Problem 1: Creating Information Products

UPS employs 62,000 drivers and delivers on the order of 11 million packages per day. Scheduling and routing delivery poses an important problem. Small improvements in scheduled dropoff and pickup plans can offer seven figure savings in fuel and direct labor costs. To tackle routing and scheduling, UPS has invested in Roadnet, a separate company engaged in the process of creating digitized maps of all cities in the United States. Eventually, Roadnet hopes to track streetlevel information to the point of knowing the duration of individual traffic signals. Can UPS and Roadnet create information products based on the large quantity of data collected?

A proposal to achieve this might begin by dividing the information into classes of the IQA framework, partitioning on the basis of

description, instruction, and principle. One possible relational database arrangement of the descriptive information is shown in Figure 4.1.

	Start	End	Capacity	Speed	Distance	•••
Street 1-1						
Street 1-2						
Street 1-3						
Street 2-1						
Street 2-2						
•••						

Figure 4.1 -- A relational DB framework captures Roadnet data.

Each street segment is represented by a single relation. Each relation represents one unit of description.⁵² Based on this configuration, it is possible to devise an efficient simplex algorithm to span the network of streets using either time or distance as the cost function. The number of instructions in the network algorithm gives its quantity. Further, Roadnet may gather and analyze additional information to provide average flows and average numbers of accidents. These characterizations provide principle information useful for predicting traffic patterns. Products based on these classes may take several forms.

Description: Basic descriptive data may be sold in two forms. Roadnet might sell the database or it might use the database to construct extremely high precision maps. Careful copyright protection would be necessary to protect from unauthorized sale and distribution of data once it had been sold. The markets might include real estate, cartography, and local government.

⁵²"Distance"may be calculated from the start and end points, but might remain a separate domain in the database for reasons of efficiency. With one dependent domain, completeness remains at four.

Instruction: Because it is easier to maintain control of processes, instruction information may either be sold or rented. Renting would involve allowing users to access the network software to plot specific paths. Alternatively, by running the software, it would be possible to sell single specific sets of directions on a request basis. Also, software embodying the algorithm might be sold. The market for these services is quite large, involving any company that makes deliveries, as well as police and emergency vehicle drivers, who value the most expedient route.

Principle: The characterization information concerning average flow and average accident rates is primarily useful for planning and prediction. This information could be sold to city planners, departments of transportation, and actuaries at insurance companies. If information is collected down to the stoplight level, it might be possible to sell consulting services to improve traffic flow.

This section is not intended to judge the relative merits of any one product but rather is intended to show the feasibility of creating such products once information has been collected. It may be the case that the sale of information offers substantially greater income potential than the potential economic advantage of keeping information proprietary.⁵³

Problem 2: Pricing Strategies

⁵³SIC directories show more than two dozen *types* of companies that make deliveries. If each type were willing to pay one tenth the value of its own savings to a seller of routing schedules, the seller is likely to earn considerably more than its own savings would be worth.

Given an information product, pricing strategies must be developed for recovering the information investment. Microeconomics determines market prices through the combination of supply curves, which generally increase with price, and demand curves, which generally decrease with price. The unusual nature of information, however, introduces new dimensions into these calculations.

Standard economic practice is to sell that quantity of product which equates marginal cost with marginal revenue. If marginal revenue exceeds marginal cost then there is an incentive to increase gains by selling more, but if marginal revenue falls short of marginal cost then there is incentive to cut losses by selling less. The point where these two curves meet also determines the price. For information, however, the marginal cost is always zero. After information is sold, it remains available to sell again and again. Zero marginal cost implies that long run equilibrium in a competitive market occurs when information is free. If this were always the case, underinvestment in the production of information would virtually be guaranteed. The insight cautions potential suppliers of information; businesses must not enter into information markets where the supply of information conforms to the supply in competitive markets.

Competitive market assumptions include, among others, that products are uniform and that there are numerous suppliers, neither of which are true for information markets. Copyrights and restricted access to sources both act to ensure monopoly power. This in turn generates more than standard economic profits. The monopolist's profitability looks markedly improved.

Figure 4.2 Considerable profits are possible for the information monopolist.



In this figure, the amount of information supplied conforms to the point at which the marginal cost intersects the marginal revenue but the price charged per unit is given by the demand curve AR. For competitive markets the demand curve and the marginal revenue curve are the same. The monopolist, however, enjoys net profit governed by the difference between Average Revenue and Average Total Cost. Setting the price is then a matter of determining what quantity of sales sets marginal revenue equal to zero, then plugging this quantity in to the demand function. For example, assuming demand⁵⁴ is 1000 - 50Q then

> Total Revenue = PQ = (1000 - 50Q)Q $\partial(TR)/\partial Q = 1000 - 100Q = 0$ Q = 10 => P = 1000 - 50(10) = \$500 per unit.

⁵⁴Actual demand must, of course, be determined empirically.

Five thousand then gives the total revenues of a firm facing this demand curve.⁵⁵ Much more interesting behavior emerges if the demand curve is multidimensional, for example:

$P = \alpha(\text{Redundancy}) + \beta(\text{Completeness}) + \rho(\text{Exhaustiveness}) + \gamma(\text{Novelty}) + \delta(\text{Accuracy}) + \lambda(\text{Time}) + \chi(\text{Interest}) + \psi(\text{Relevance}) + \mu(\text{Quantity})$

Using this formula, one can determine the optimal level of any particular attribute, and the subsequent total price, by equating the partial derivative of the total revenue function with the partial derivative of the total cost function for that attribute. To determine the most profitable level of accuracy, for example, set $\partial(TR)/\partial Accuracy =$ This level of accuracy is then fixed for use in $\partial(TC)/\partial Accuracy.$ determining the total price. Although the previous example showed that the marginal cost of producing an identical unit of information is zero, this is not necessarily the case for new units of information or for the marginal costs of the attributes. The accuracy of a mailing list, for example, deteriorates over time indicating that there are likely to be positive costs associated with maintaining a specified level of accuracy. Importantly, the utilities for each attribute (the demand curves) will vary with the decision context although the quantities of each attribute (the supply curves) will remain constant, as they should.

Specific situations will vary greatly and interesting patterns of behavior can result. The demand for operating system software, which is largely process information, increases inversely with novelty. Purchasers of operating systems wish to standardize their software in order to increase the number of potential packages that will run on their

 $^{^{55}}$ Selling 11 units rather than 10 drops the price to 450 and the total sales to 4950.

computers. For the novelty attribute, this creates a positively sloped demand curve as buyers are willing to pay more for a package that has gained widespread acceptance. Again, as the normative theories suggest, price but not quantity will depend on the specific context.

Problem 3: Data Management -- Handling 4 terabytes of descriptive data.

Over the course of a delivery, each package generates data about several factors. These may include but are not limited to a source, a destination, routes, time on route, human and machine handlers, insurance, and dimensions. Eleven million packages a day force data to accumulate rapidly. The magnitude of this data raises the question of how it might be useful strategically.

It has been suggested [Gorry and Scott-Morton '71] that managerial activity at the operational control level differs substantially from managerial activity at the level of strategic planning. Different roles result in different information needs. Operational control concerns the execution of specific tasks and requires specific accurate and immediate data. At an intermediate level, management control deals with efficient use and allocation of resources. This requires a higher level of aggregation and is broader in scope. Strategic planning concerns the setting of policy guidelines and company objectives. It, in turn, requires the highest level of information aggregation; it tends to rely more on forecasts, and much of this information must come from outside the corporation. Figure 4.3 summarizes the spectrum of information needs.

Information Characteristic	Operational Control	Managerial Control	Strategic Planning
Source Scope Level of Aggregation Time Horizon	Largely Int Well Define Detailed 4 Historical 4	ernal d, Narrow	 Largely External Very Wide Aggregate Future
Time Frame Required Accuracy Frequency of Use	Highly Curr High Very Freque	ent 4	Old Cow Low Infrequent

Figure 4.3 -- Managers' information needs vary with function 56.

The difference in the classes of information from the IQA framework provide aspects of this flexibility. At the operational control level, descriptive data whose time is recent can be used in the sorting, scheduling, and routing of packages. Higher level managers would find raw data to be minimally useful. However, conveying to them data that has already been summarized through statistical methods and captured in principle information is quite helpful. Capacity planning may rely on destinations that have consistently grown in average demand. Routes that often lose packages may be targeted for upgrading. Formulae may be calculated for the elasticity of demand which can substantially increase revenues. These formulae may lead to price discrimination packages based on time of year and location as well as size and weight. These summary statistics are useful in providing decision support. After operational control has finished with data, it seems more practical to keep statistical summaries and trend information online than to face the expense of making all data available to all levels of management.

As noted by Gorry and Scott-Morton, forecasting also represents one of the primary activities of middle and upper level management.

⁵⁶Gorry, Anthony and Michael Scott-Morton; "A Framework for Management Information Systems;" *Sloan Management Review*, Fall 1971; Cambridge, MA; p. 59.

definition of principle information, which includes The characterizations and correlations (formulae) makes this possible. From an initial set of descriptions it is feasible to calculate the relationship of customers to price and of productivity to customers. Then from the current conditions, it is possible to project into the future what the likely activity level of a given variable will be. The 'completeness' of a principle gives the number of factors on which a particular forecast relies while the 'accuracy' of the principle provides the confidence level with which one may anticipate the result. Formulae useful for prediction may appear in any number of locations -one can conceive of predicting economic recessions based on the call volume of attorneys' offices. The confidence level determines whether such correlations are valid. No set of equations may anticipate all possible exogenous shocks to a system but a sufficiently large set of equations may provide a helpful approximation of the market conditions at a future date.

The magnitude of descriptive data highlights the need for careful management and information indices along the lines of solvency, efficiency, and profitability. By itself the raw data indicates that information waste is likely to be low but that the relative proportion of descriptive data may be too high. A company with a great deal of unanalyzed data may be solvent in descriptions but insolvent in instructions or principles. The rate of generation also suggests high profitability but again this is only on one area of information. Much of the data needs to be converted to principle data detailing the trends of the operation and the formulae which govern its success. Much of it needs also to be used in the redesign of existing procedures. Additional treatment of this topic follows under process enhancement.

Problem 4: Process Enhancement

"We know the best way to approach a truck (the right foot first) and the best place to carry one's keys (on the right pinky)." -- Frank Erbrick, Sr. VP of IS, United Parcel Service

Large scale repetitive operations, as in the case of the air cargo delivery business, offer great opportunities for cost savings if even small but continuous improvements can be introduced into routine procedures. As noted in the routing plans, minutes shaved from the standard procedures can save millions of dollars. UPS is so conscious of this fact that they have devised innovative methods of package handling to save a few seconds. To locate the label on a package, most people will pick up the box placing their hands on the faces of two opposing sides, then rotate the box several times until the label comes into view. This may require up to three rotations of the box to examine all six faces, assuming at least two faces are always visible. At UPS the procedure is different. Package handlers are trained to grasp a box by opposing (diagonal) corners and with one motion spin the box along this axis until the label comes into view. In a separate instance, UPS has devised mechanisms for servicing its fleet in half the time of published industry By analyzing the service process, UPS has designed standards. alternate and superior task planning and work area layout. The question arises, is it possible to use the proposed information framework to assist with and improve the redesign of standard processes to conserve time and effort?

To enable an information processor such as a computer to solve problems requires specifying both a task and a means of task resolution. Different types of information from the IQA framework may be used to specify the task as well as the procedure for its solution. A task order describes the initial conditions and the final conditions. It is essential that this description of a task be declarative rather than procedural -- the task order must describe the desired result without indicating how to achieve it. A procedural method of specifying the task would interfere with the exploration of alternative procedures or solutions. To avoid an order that dictates a single, self-fulfilling solution, the task order can be defined using *description* information to provide an initial state and the desired final state. Task resolution then proceeds as the information processor searches through the available instructions to discover a path from the initial configuration to the final. It is essential that the search consider multiple instructions for accomplishing the same task. If only one procedure is specified, an alternative, more expedient procedure Given several alternative processes, however, cannot be found. evaluation proceeds according to the proposed set of measures (i.e. number of steps) and attributes (i.e. accuracy, time, completeness, etc). The final process selected will be that which provides the greatest value, based on the units and attributes most pertinent to the application.

A simple stylized model illustrates. If an air cargo company were to enter the packaging business in a move toward vertical integration, one potential task might be the design of a rapid packaging process which minimized resource use but which passed a box crush test. An initial state of the world is given by ((resourceA units 11) (resourceB units 2) (resourceC units 2)) but a final state ((productD units 1)) is

desired. Notice that this description places no requirements on the amounts of resources A, B and C upon completion. A more detailed and confining final state might have been ((resourceA units 3) (resourceB units 0) (resource C units 2) (product D units 1)). Now suppose the task is to create a product -- a reinforced package which consumes various amounts of resources A, B and C (perhaps paper fiber, glue, and plastic) and which must pass a crush test of a little more than 24 lbs. The instructions on hand include {wrapping, tying with string, taping, adding newspaper, adding styrofoam, and reboxing}. Further, searching has revealed five processes which use these instructions and resources to produce roughly similar results. Assume also that the cost of materials (resources) is negligible compared to the cost of labor (instructions), which is represented as {1, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5}, respectively. The processes' resource use, operational requirements, and attributes are given as follows:

	R Requ	esourc uireme	e ents	Operational Requirements			Attribute Measurement					
	A	В	C	Wrap	Tie	Tape	News	Styro	Rebox	Cost	Time	Accuracy
Process 1	12			11						11	11	98%
Process 2	2	2	1		1	1	1	1		10	4	100%
Process 3	2	1	1		1		1	1		8	3	100%
Process 4	3	1				3				6	3	98%
Process 5	1	1	1			2				4	2	77%
Process 6	2					1			1	7	2	98%

Figure 4.4 -	- Process	evaluation	must	consider	multiple	factors
					*	

Cost = Operational Cost * Operational Requirements. (respective costs are 1, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) Time = Total number of Steps (Instructions). Accuracy = Distance from target of $24^{1}/_{3}$ lbs. (measured independently)

Selecting the most desirable process depends the utility function and environmental constraints acting on the manager's set of choices. The least expensive process, P5, is also the least accurate. The most accurate processes, P2 and P3, are among the most costly. The only process which may be rejected out of hand is P2 since none of its attributes exceed those of P3 and it also uses both more resources (B) and extra technology (taping). An older company well endowed with resource A but which is limited to the cheap wrapping technology might still prefer P1 despite its cost⁵⁷. The fastest process, P6, also uses the most expensive reboxing technology. Although only a handful of instruction attributes are used, the quantities provided together with a utility function define the constraints and the objective function for a simplex algorithm. The information attributes concerning the process (its steps, its accuracy, its time, etc.) are fixed for all decision problems. However, the utilities of each process will change with the user, as they should. Solving the simplex algorithm to match an information process to a specific user is then straightforward.

Simplifying this problem still further will illustrate the means for developing the six independent processes. Assume that the resources are not paper fiber, glue, and plastic but are instead the digits 2, 3, and 5. Further assume that the instructions are not labor or technologies but instead +, -, *, /, ^, and !. The reinterpreted chart is shown as Figure 4.5.

 $^{^{57}}$ The initial conditions would preclude this process since only 11 units of A are available.

	R Req	esourc uireme	e ents	Operational Requirements			Attribute Measurement					
	2	3	. 5	+	-	*	1	^	!	Cost	Time	Accuracy
Process 1	12			11						11	11	98%
Process 2	2	2	1		1	1	1	1		10	4	100%
Process 3	2	1	1		1		1	1		8	3	100%
Process 4	3	1			000000000000000000000000000000000000000	3				6	3	98%
Process 5	1	1	1			2			[4	2	77%
Process 6	2					1			1	7	2	98%

Figure 4.5 -- Reinterpreted process chart.

Cost = Operational Cost * Operational Requirements. (respective costs are 1, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) Time = Total number of Steps (Instructions).

Accuracy = Distance from target of $24^{1}/_{3}$ lbs. (measured independently)

Using the process definition of "relevance" as the degree to which an instruction moves an initial description towards a final description, a process designer might arbitrarily select instructions and apply them to conceptual states in an effort to produce a final state. An instruction with a high level of relevance produces a result closer to a final state than an instruction with low relevance. The process terminates⁵⁸ when its distance from the desired state is sufficiently small. In this example, the initial state is a supply of digits, the instructions are mathematical, and the final goal is a strength of $24^{1}/_{3}$. Processes 1 through 6, having been developed through arbitrary search, may now be revealed to be:

	<u>Cost</u>	Time	<u>a Acc⁵⁹</u>
Process 1: $2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2=24$	11	11	98.6%
Process 2: $[(3*5^2)-2]/3 = 24.33$	10	4	100%
Process 3: $5^2-2/3 = 24.33$	8	3	100%
Process 4: $3*2*2*2 = 24$	6	3	98.6%
Process 5: $2*3*5 = 30$	4	2	77%
Process 6: $(2*2)! = 24$	7	2	98.6%

⁵⁸If it halts. It is certainly possible to define tasks which no arbitrary set of operators can achieve.

⁵⁹Accuracy is |target - actual|/target.

Process redesign need not stop here, however, as the processes have not been fully optimized. For each process in which an instruction does not conflict with another instruction, those steps may be performed in parallel rather than in serial. In order for two instructions to avoid conflict, they must meet two standard conditions. They must not require the same resources (to avoid deadlock), and the final result must be independent of the (arbitrary) order in which the instructions fire. Addition and multiplication, for example, cannot generally be performed in parallel since the order of the operations affects the result, for example, $(5+2)^{*3} \neq 5+(2^{*3})$. Optimized processes reduce the time associated with each process in the following manner:

	"Original Time"	<u>"New Time"</u>
Process 1: 2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+2+	2 =24 11	log ₂ (11)≈4
Process 2: [(3*5^2)-2]/3 = 24.33	4	4
Process 3: $5^2-2/3 = 24.33$	3	2
Process 4: 3*2*2*2 = 24	3	log ₂ (3)≈2
Process 5: $2*3*5 = 30$	2	2
Process 6: $(2*2)! = 24$	2	2

A further application of the IQA framework to process enhancement is in the area of statistical process control (SPC). Maintaining quality standards in either products or services frequently involves statistical sampling of output and error correction based on the results.⁶⁰ SPC requires businesses to set quality targets and to define measurable attributes which indicate compliance. Statistical sampling

⁶⁰Juran's Quality Control Handbook covered this subject in 1954 and SPC is covered in standard textbooks of operations management. See for example J. M. Juran, Ed.; *Quality Control Handbook*; New York: McGraw-Hill;© 1971 or John McClain and L. Joseph Thomas; *Operations Management*, Second Ed.; Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall © 1985; Ch. 16.

then places actual performance on a graph from which trends and cycles can be detected, often leading to the correction of anticipated rather than realized problems. Statistical average and range charts, such as the following, describe actual performance.



In this chart, error correction proceeds from samples that fall outside the proscribed ranges, from cycles that may develop, and from sample trends showing a problem is likely to occur. The vertical bars indicate the range of a sample and the circle gives the average. Descriptive information is the result of an actual product sampling. The statistical summary giving mean, range, and standard deviation for the description is principle information. With little or no adaptation, the IQA framework may be used for statistical process control.
CHAPTER 5

Life is the art of drawing sufficient conclusions from insufficient premises. -- Samuel Butler

There are two things which I am confident I can do very well: one is an introduction to any literary work, stating what it is to contain, and how it should be executed in the most perfect manner; the other is a conclusion, shewing from various causes why the execution has not been equal to what the author promised to himself and to the public.

-- Samuel Johnson

Answers to Principal Questions

The first chapter posed five questions which affect the characterization and management of information. The purpose of this section is to initiate a response. Concrete answers to all five will require additional research but the IQA framework outlined above provides a useful platform from which to launch further investigation.

How does one measure information? Is there an information currency?

One measures information by ascribing objectively measurable units to its intrinsic features. A recurring theme throughout this thesis is that measuring information through extrinsic features provides a non-transferrable value only. Information, like other products, must be treated as a commodity which may be passed between owners. Measurement proceeds from intrinsic features to objective measures which may be used by the marketplace. Quantity determines relative values, while the market determines an absolute price. Selecting any information currency is somewhat arbitrary, like choosing the metric system over the English system of units. Settling upon a quantifiable system of units defines the currency. The currency defined for description is relations, for processes it is instructions, and for principles it is characterizations (e.g. range) or formulae.

Storage media presents a common impediment to measuring information. The position taken here is that while difficulties in transferring between media will affect price, these difficulties do not affect the intrinsic quantity which remains independent of media.

How might one classify information and what are its relevant attributes?

The system proposed here breaks information into description, instruction, and principle. Each class has a different purpose. Description provides a means of characterizing states of the world. Instruction provides a goal oriented mechanism for changing states of the world. Principle provides a guideline for choosing which new descriptions are preferable and which processes will achieve them. These guidelines are in the form of correlations between states. Importantly, principle never depends on causality, only on statistical correlation. The purpose underlying the use of statistics is to make the system as mechanizable as possible given that machines cannot generally deal with causality.

The defined attributes include redundancy, completeness, exhaustiveness, novelty, accuracy, time, interest, and relevance. Each attribute carries a specific numeric index which allows for comparisons

among groups of information. The units differ according to the axis of comparison.

What information presents the most worthwhile investment opportunity and on what occasions should one buy, sell, or trade information?

The decision to invest in information relies on the potential for creating value -- obtaining accurate and relevant descriptions, filling in incomplete processes, and discovering fundamental principles. According to standard economic practice, resource allocation should equate marginal revenue with marginal cost. Investment should increase along dimensions where marginal revenue exceeds marginal cost and it should decrease along dimensions where marginal revenue falls short of marginal cost. The dimensions for investment are those of the proposed framework. In other words, investment in the accuracy of a description, for example, should continue until the increased accuracy no longer produces additional return. Japanese manufacturers are committed to constant process enhancement and enjoy the competitive advantages this produces.

What frameworks will indicate the data that is captured or not captured by a corporation?

Existing literature contains numerous frameworks for managerial uses of and requirements for information.⁶¹ These tend toward applied information technology approaches which are managerially more practical than the theoretical decision valuation

⁶¹Gorry and Scott-Morton, Keen and Scott-Morton, Bullen and Rockart, Zmud.

approaches. The IQA framework generally adapts well to the applied frameworks as in the case of the Gorry and Scott-Morton proposal.

Are there tools to measure information management efficiency?

The proposed tools for identifying problems and opportunities are the information estimates of solvency, efficiency, and profitability. Solvency measures the amount of information available. Efficiency measures the leverage of information output relative to information input. Profitability measures the information generation rate. These may inform management of information waste and of missing information. They may indicate stagnation or overemphasis on one type of information or point out deficiencies to come. Much work remains to be done, however, to devise information metrics.

Conclusions

The information framework detailed in the course of this thesis has endorsed an alternative approach to measuring information. The primary difference is expressed as the distinction between an information quantity assessment and an information value assessment. A quantity assessment has the advantage that objective measures transport across contexts and enable information markets to be established. Under IQA, information receives the status of a true commodity. Estimates of value may proceed, as before, to calculate incremental gain based on the particular decision and the data available. The utility to a decision maker has not changed, although a decision maker now possesses more specific criteria on what, how much, and which type of information to purchase. He may also have

indices of his information management skill. Quantity measurements therefore do not replace value measurements but complement the set of available tools.

Measurement proceeds from the introduction of information classes. Disaggregating information by type recognizes that differences exist in its use and application. This improves considerably on present approaches which treat information as a monolithic and uniform substance. Where differences exist in information classes, a taxonomy makes it possible to make stronger statements about elements of a particular class. Scope limitations then allow one to focus on the information relevant to a specific problem: choosing, making a prediction, enhancing a process, or buying a database, etc.

The information classes also tell an information manager (including a computer) details about the semantics of the information by indicating how such information is used. Existing theories typically measure information based solely on contextual value. How the information would be applied to add value is never considered. IQA, on the other hand, enumerates information based on its function.

From the classes of information arise differences in the attributes of each class. These attributes provide numerical axes for comparing distinct sets of information in an effort to establish their relative values. Tests of similarity improve upon the power of Blackwell's theorems by permitting comparisons between transposable *categories* of data in addition to transposable data. Differences in the measurement of attributes by class also make it simpler to provide specific numeric units. A measure of "completeness," for example, is difficult if information is treated as a uniform substance.

The objectivity of units and attributes in IQA may lead to improved understanding of more subjective interpretations of value. With precise definitions, "obsolescence", "novelty", and "durability" become objectively quantifiable. Subjective value differences arising from imprecise definitions or disagreement over points of emphasis may disappear once terminology and methods are duly clarified.

Methods for assessing information also adapt to managerial information systems frameworks such as that proposed by Gorry and Scott-Morton. Managerial activity covers contexts much more diverse than single instances of exerised choice. In fact, managers spend considerable time looking for problems, looking for options, and learning from experience. IQA operates across contexts and it can provide heuristic approximations of managerial effectiveness as well. In contrast, management based on prior probabilities is extremely difficult.

The potential for improving strategic planning through Information Quantity Assessment is great. Active management of a company's information resources through IQA could, for example, support executives in determining directions for research and development functions, assess the health of a company's information versus the competition's, predict upcoming obsolescence in time to design a response, and improve on other strategic analyses currently performed on an intuitive basis. Potentially, information indicators may predict a company's cash indicators in advance, providing more time to respond.

Property, plant, and equipment possess a concreteness that information will find hard to match. When information becomes clearly

understood, it may well provide the basis for a large and successful information market. While the measures proposed here lack the precision of cash, it is hoped that steps in this direction will provide the tools to fold information into assessments of corporate value with a higher degree of precision than currently exists. The tools provided by IQA treat information as a commodity and help to quantify information as an asset. This may be a distinguishing factor in separating corporate market value from corporate book value. This represents a novel approach to assessing the value of a critical intangible asset. Were it possible to capitalize and depreciate an information investment, the costs would decline significantly. With a certain degree of optimism, one hopes that this will eventually be the case.

APPENDIX A

This section derives the information economics function for the value of an information system (found on page 15). The model of the decision theoretic system is repeated below for ease of reference.



Figure A.1 Information may be characterized by its use to effect payoffs. ⁰²	
S = Universal set of states of the world.	r = A partitioning which distin- guishes only those states affect- ing payoffs.
Z = Set of payoff-relevant events.	η = An information association relating events and messages.
Y = Set of messages (Information) about the state of the world	α = A decision function (rule) re- lating events and messages.
A = Set of possible actions.	ω = An outcome function mapping actions into effects.
O = Set of possible outcomes (one outcome for each Z, A pair)	v = A utility function relating a payoff (a p _j in P) with each out- come (o _j in O).
P = Set of payoffs (associated with each outcome).	

69

⁶²Diagram adapted from Mock.

The best choice of decision function is that which results in the greatest possible return to the decision maker based on his preferences. This is the largest possible value of $v(\omega(s,a))$. In other words, given a set of states s and a set of actions a, perform that action (execute ω) whose outcome provides the greatest benefit (given by v).

Each collection of states is complete and the members are mutually exclusive. This implies that members fall within a probability distribution $\phi(\mathbf{x})$ such that $\Sigma\phi(\mathbf{x}) = 1$. Consequently, for any particular state s the expected return is given by $v(\omega(s,a))\phi(s)$ and the total for all states by

 $\sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, a]]\phi(s)$

The decision maker, however, will be basing his actions on the signals provided by the information system. In this case, the equivalence $\alpha(y)=a$ maps from signals to actions. Knowing only the signals y, the decision maker will not necessarily know the prior probability $\phi(s)$ and so must use Bayes theorem to substitute $\phi(s | y)\phi(y)$. As a result, grouping the states according to all signals that might correspond to them and substituting gives

$$\sum_{y} \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, \alpha(y)]]\phi(s \mid y)\phi(y)$$

for the gross realizable value obtained through use of an information system.⁶³ For the net value, one must subtract the impact

⁶³The complete substitution would be $\sum_{y} \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s,\alpha(\eta(s))]]\phi(s|\eta(s))\phi(\eta(s))$

of decisions made without the benefit of the information system resulting in

$$\sum_{y} \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, \alpha(y)]]\phi(s|y)\phi(y) - \sum_{s} \upsilon[\omega[s, a]]\phi(s)$$

APPENDIX B

Given a unique event⁶⁴ E, its probability of occurrence p must fall between 0 and 1. But how "informative" is a reliable message stating that E has occurred? If the probability of occurrence is high, i.e. p = .99, then news of the event is not surprising. On the other hand, if the probability is low, or p = .05, the news is significant and highly informative. This suggests that the amount of information q(p)conveyed by such a message increases with its surprise. A function exhibiting this feature is:

q(p) = -log(p)

Although other monotonically increasing functions will work, this form has gained widespread acceptance [Shannon and Weaver '49, Lev '68, Kinchin '57, Ronen and Falk '73] due to its additive properties. These properties allow one to sum independent probabilities to previously calculated results without interference. The function derives from the Second Law of Thermodynamics which measures uncertainty or disorder.

The probability of receiving a message concerning E will occur with probability p so that the expected value of information is $-p \cdot log(p)$. The same message describing the two state event E also describes the event **not** E with probability 1-p. The total information is therefore:

 $\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}(\mathbf{p}) + (\mathbf{1} \cdot \mathbf{p}) \cdot \mathbf{q}(\mathbf{1} \cdot \mathbf{p}) = -\mathbf{p} \cdot \log(\mathbf{p}) - (\mathbf{1} \cdot \mathbf{p}) \cdot \log(\mathbf{1} \cdot \mathbf{p})$

⁶⁴The following explanation is developed in Lev '68.

This gives the entropy function for a discrete event. For n equiprobable events, this generalizes to $\sum_{i=1} p_i . log(p_i)$ for i from 1 to n. If two is used as the base of the logarithm, the discrete entropy function has a range from 0 to 1, yielding a quantity of information which is measured in bits. Entropy function values are shown below.





BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahituv, Niv; "Assessing the Value of Information: Problems and Approaches;" Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Information Systems, Dec. 4-6, 1989; pp. 315-325.
- Ahituv, Niv; "A Systematic Approach Towards Assessing the Value of an Information System;" *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 4, Num. 4; Dec. 1980; pp. 61-75.
- Ahituv, N and Y. Wand; "Comparative Evaluation of Information Under Two Business Objectives;" *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 15, Num. 1; Winter 1984; pp. 31-51.
- Anthony, R. A.; Planning and Control Systems: A Framework for Analysis; Division of Research, Graduate School of Business Administration, Boston, MA: Harvard University; 1965.
- Arrow, K. J.; "The Value of and Demand for Information;" in Decision and Organization, Second Edition; C. B. McGuire and R. Radner, Eds; Minneapolis, Minnesota: University of Minnesota Press © 1986; pp. 131-139.
- Barua, Anitesh, Charles Kreibel, and Tridas Mukhopadhyay; "MIS and Information Economics: Augmenting Rich Descriptions with Analytical Rigor in Information Systems Design;" Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Information Systems, Dec. 4-6, 1989; pp. 327-329.
- Benbasat, I. and A. Dexter; "An Experimental Evaluation of Graphical and Color-Enhanced Information Presentation;" *Management Science*, Vol. 31, Num. 11, Nov. 1985; pp. 1248-1364.
- Brealey, Richard A. and Stewart C. Meyers; *Principles of Corporate Finance*; Third Edition; New York: McGraw-Hill © 1988.
- Bullen, Christine V. and John F. Rockart; "A Primer on Critical Success Factors;" in *The Rise of Managerial Computing; The Best of the Center for Information Systems Research*; John F. Rockart and Christine V. Bullen, Eds.; Homewood, IL: Dow Jones-Irwin © 1986.
- Codd, E. F.; "A Relational Model of Data for Large Shared Data Banks;" in Communications of the ACM; Vol. 13, No. 6, June 1970; p. 379.
- Codd, E. F.; "Relational Completeness of Data Base Sublanguages;" in *Data Base Systems*; R. Rustin, Ed.; Englewood Cliffs, NY: Prentice-Hall © 1971; pp. 65-98.

- Davidson, Sidney, Clyde P. Stickney, and Roman L. Weil; Financial Accounting, Fifth Edition; New York: Dreyden Press © 1988.
- Davis, Gordon and Margrethe Olson; Management Information Systems: Conceptual Foundations, Structure, and Developments; New York: McGraw-Hill © 1985.
- Demski, Joel S.; Information Analysis, Second Edition; Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley © 1980.
- DeSanctis, G.; "Computer Graphics as Decision Aids: Directions for Research;" Decision Sciences, Vol. 15, Num. 4, Fall 1984; pp. 463-487.
- DIALOG Information Services, Inc.; DIALOG Service Price List; Palo Alto, CA: DIALOG Information Services, Inc. © 1990.
- Dickson, G.W., J.A. Senn and N. L. Chervany; "Research in Management Information Systems: The Minnesota Experiments;" *Management Science*, Vol. 23, Num. 9, Sept. 1977; pp. 913-923.
- Dun & Bradstreet Credit Services; Industry Norms and Key Business Ratios, Desk Top Edition 88-89; Murray Hill, NJ: Dun & Bradstreet © 1989.
- Feltham, G.A.; "The Value of Information;" Accounting Review, Vol. 43, Num. 4, Oct. 1968; pp. 684-696.
- Forrester, Jay W.; "Industrial Dynamics -- A Major Breakthrough for Decision Makers;" in *Managerial Applications of System Dynamics*, Edward Roberts, Ed.; Cambridge, MA: MIT Press © 1984.
- Gelernter, David; "The Metamorphosis of Information Management;" in Scientific American, Vol. 261, No. 2, August 1989.
- Goodhue, Dale, Judith Quillard and John Rockart; "Managing the Data Resource: A Contingency Perspective;" MIT Sloan School Working Paper, Management in the 1990s; Sloan WP#1859-87.
- Gorry, Anthony and Michael Scott-Morton; "A Framework for Management Information Systems;" *Sloan Management Review*, Fall 1971; Cambridge, MA; pp. 55-70.
- Guide to American Law. Everyone's Legal Encyclopedia, Vol. 10; St. Paul, MN: West Publishing © 1984.
- Hamburg, Morris; Statistical Analysis for Decision Making, Fourth Ed.; San Diego: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, © 1987.
- Hax, Arnoldo C. and Nicholas S. Majluf; Strategic Management.; Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, © 1984.

- Hilton, R. W.; "The Determinants of Information Value: Synthesizing Some General Results;" Management Science, Vol. 27, Num. 1, Jan. 1981; pp.57-64.
- Hirschleifer, J.; "The Private and Social Value of Information and the Reward to Inventive Activity;" American Economic Review; Vol. 61, Sept. 1971; pp. 562-574.
- Hirshleifer, J.; "Where Are We in a Theory of Information?" American Economic Review; Vol. 63, Num. 2, 1973; pp. 31-39.
- Hofstadter, Douglas R.; Godel, Escher, Bach: An Eternal Golden Braid; New York: Vintage Books,© 1980.
- Hopper, Max; "Rattling SABRE -- New Ways to Compete on Information;" Harvard Business Review, May-June 1990; pp. 118-125.
- Ijiri, Y.; The Foundation of Accounting Measurement; Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall © 1967.
- Juran, Joseph; Quality Control Handbook; New York: McGraw-Hill © 1972.
- Keen, Peter and Michael Scott-Morton; "Evaluation: A Smorgasbord of Methods;" in Decision Support Systems; Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley © 1987; Ch. 8.
- Keeney, R and H Raiffa; Decision with Multiple Objectives: Preference and Value Tradeoffs; New York: John Wiley © 1976.
- Kinchin, A. I.; Mathematical Foundations of Information Theory; New York: Dover Publications ©1957.
- Kleijnen, J. P. C.; Computers and Profits: Quantifying Financial Benefits of Information; Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley © 1980
- Lev, B.; "The Aggregation Problem in Financial Statements: An Informational Approach;" *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1968; pp. 247-261.
- Lev, B.; "The Informational Approach to Aggregation in Financial Statements; Extensions;" *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 8, No. 1, 1969; pp. 78-94.
- Little, John D. C.; "Coverstory -- An Expert System to Find the News in Scanner Data;" (working paper) Cambridge, MA: MIT Sloan School of Management; Sept. 1988.
- Marschak, J.; "Economics of Information Systems;" Journal of the American Statistical Association; Vol. 66, Num. 333, Mar. 1971; pp. 192-219.

- Marschak, Jacob; Economic Information, Decision, and Prediciton, Vols. I, II, and III; Boston, MA: D. Reidel Publishing Co. © 1974.
- Marschak, Jacob and Roy Radner; The Economic Theory of Teams; New Haven, CT: Yale University Press © 1972.
- McFarlan, F. W.; "Information Technology Changes the Way You Compete;" *Harvard Business Review*, May-June 1984; pp. 98-103.
- McGuire, C.B.; "Comparisons of Information Structures;" in Decision and Organization, Second Ed.; C.B. McGuire and R. Radner, Eds.; Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press, © 1986; pp. 101-130.
- Mock, T.J.; "Concepts of Information Value and Accounting;" The Accounting Review, Vol. 46, Num. 4, Oct. 1971; pp. 765-778.
- Newman, D.P.; "Prospect Theory: Implications for Information Evaluation;" Accounting, Organization and Society, Vol. 5, Num. 2, 1980; pp. 217-230.
- Penzias, Arno; Ideas and Information; New York: Touchstone Books © 1989.
- Porter, Michael E.; Competitive Strategy -- Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors.; New York: Macmillan © 1980.
- Radner, R.; "Normative Theory of Individual Decision: An Introduction;" in Decision and Organization, Second Ed.; C.B. McGuire and R. Radner, Eds.; Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press © 1986; pp. 1-18.
- Ronen, J. and G. Falk; "Accounting Aggregation and the Entropy Measure: An Experimental Approach;" *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 48, Num. 4, Oct. 1973; pp. 696-717.
- Schmitz, John, Gordon Armstrong and John Little; "Coverstory --Automated News Finding in Marketing;" (working paper) Cambridge, MA: MIT Sloan School of Management; Dec. 1989.
- Schrader, Stephen; "Informal Information Trading Between Firms: An Inquiry into Managers' Decision Making;" (Working Paper); Cambridge, MA: MIT Sloan School of Management; 1989.
- Shannon, Claude and Warren Weaver; The Mathematical Theory of Communication; Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press © 1949.
- Sterman, John D.; "A Skeptic's Guide to Computer Models;" in *Foresight* and National Decisions.; Lindsey Grant, Ed.; Chicago: University Press of America © 1988.

Tapiero, C. S.; "Optimization of Information Measurement with Inventory Applications;" Infor, Vol. 15, Num. 1, Feb. 1977; pp. 50-60.

Toffler, Alvin; Powershift; New York: Bantam Books © Nov. 1990.

- Treacy, Michael E.; "Toward a Behavioral Theory of Information Value;" (Working Paper 1191-81); Cambridge, MA: Alfred P. Sloan School, MIT; 1981.
- United Parcel Service; Report to Shareholders; Greenwich, CT: United Parcel Service © 1989.
- Wilson, R.; "Informational Economics of Scale;" The Bell Journal of Economics; Vol. 6, Num. 1, Spring 1975; pp. 184-195.
- Zmud, Robert E.; "An Empriical Investigation of the Dimensionality of the Concept of Information;" *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 9, Num. 2, Feb. 1978; pp. 187-195.

.